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AGENDA
PARTNERSHIP FOR SOUTH HAMPSHIRE
(PFSH) JOINT COMMITTEE
Date:

Tuesday, 27 July 2021

Time:

6.00 pm

Venue:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices

Members:
Chairman

To be confirmed

ViceChairman

To be confirmed

Councillors

Ken Moon, East Hampshire DC
Keith House, Eastleigh Borough Council
Seán Woodward, Fareham BC
Graham Burgess, Gosport BC
Robert Humby, Hampshire CC
Alex Rennie, Havant BC
Diane Andrews, New Forest DC
Gavin Parker, New Forest NP
Hugh Mason, Portsmouth CC
Dan Fitzhenry, Southampton CC
Nick Adams-King, Test Valley BC
Neil Cutler, Winchester CC

Chief
Executives

Nick Tustian, Eastleigh BC
Peter Grimwood, Fareham BC
Stuart Jarvis, Hampshire CC
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Gill Kneller, Havant BC & East Hants DC
Bob Jackson, New Forest DC
David Williams, Portsmouth CC & Gosport BC
Sandy Hopkins, Southampton CC
Andy Ferrier, Test Valley BC
Laura Taylor, Winchester CC
Alison Barnes, New Forest NP
Co-opted
Members:

Charlotte Lines, Environment Agency
Brian Johnson, Solent LEP
Paddy May, Partnership for South Hampshire

For further information please contact:
Democratic Services, Civic Offices, Fareham, PO16 7AZ
Tel: 01329 236100
democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk
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1.

ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN
To elect a Chairman for Municipal Year 2021/22.

2.

APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIRMAN
To appoint a Vice Chairman for Municipal Year 2021/22.

3.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND CHANGES IN JOINT COMMITTEE
MEMBERSHIP
To note any apologies and changes in membership for this meeting of the Joint
Committee.

4.

MINUTES (Pages 5 - 10)
To receive the minutes of the meeting held on the 22 March 2021.

5.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

6.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest from Members, in accordance with the Joint
Agreement.

7.

DEPUTATIONS
To receive any deputations of which notice has been lodged.

8.

REFERENCES FROM THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
To receive any references from the PfSH Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

9.

PFSH MANAGERS REPORT (Pages 11 - 32)
An additional method for PfSH business to be reported to the Joint Committee. An
opportunity for issues which are significant, but do not justify a full report in their own
right to be brought to the attention of the Joint Committee for a decision.

10. GREENPRINT FOR SOUTH HAMPSHIRE (Pages 33 - 36)
To receive an update on the work of the Greenprint for South Hampshire initiative.
11. PFSH BUDGET (Pages 37 - 66)
To receive the PfSH Budget Report (Statement of Accounts 2020/21).
12. NUTRIENT NEUTRALITY (Pages 67 - 74)
To receive a general situation report on efforts to mitigate the impact of the nutrient
neutrality requirement on house building.
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13. NUTRIENT MITIGATION: ADDRESSING THE IMPACT OF THE NUTRIENT
NEUTRALITY REQUIREMENT ON HOUSING DEVELOPMENT (Pages 75 - 114)
To receive a report outlining the emerging recommendations for the implementation
of mitigations to address the impact of the nutrient neutrality requirement on house
building.

For further information please contact:
Democratic Services, Civic Offices, Fareham, PO16 7AZ
Tel: 01329 236100
democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk
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Agenda Item 4

Minutes of the
Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH)
Joint Committee
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Monday, 22 March 2021

Venue:

Microsoft Teams Virtual Meeting

PRESENT:
Councillor

Seán Woodward, Fareham BC (Chairman)

Councillor

Christopher Hammond, Southampton CC (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors:

Nick Adams-King, Test Valley BC
David Airey, Eastleigh BC
Neil Cutler, Winchester CC
Judith Grajewski, Hampshire CC
Gavin Parker, New Forest NP
Stephen Philpott, Gosport BC
Steve Pitt, Portsmouth CC
Michael Wilson, Havant BC

Chief
Executives:

Alison Barnes, New Forest NP
Jade Ellis, Havant BC and East Hants
Andy Ferrier, Test Valley BC
Peter Grimwood, Fareham BC
Sandy Hopkins, Southampton CC
Stuart Jarvis, Hampshire CC
Laura Taylor, Winchester CC
Claire Upton-Brown, New Forest DC
Natalie Wigman, Eastleigh BC
David Williams, Portsmouth CC & Gosport BC

Co-opted
Members:

Brian Johnson, Solent LEP
Paddy May, Partnership for South Hampshire
Richard Ivory, Southampton City Council
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Also
Present:

22 March 2021

Jonathan Evans, Southampton CC – Item 7
Simon Eden, Southern Policy Centre - Item 8
Mike Allgrove, PfSH Consultant – Item 9
Richard Pestell, Stantec – Item 9
Simon Kennedy, Fareham BC – Item 10
David Bibby – Item 10

Page 6

Partnership
for
South
Hampshire (PfSH) Joint
Committee

1.

22 March 2021

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND CHANGES IN JOINT COMMITTEE
MEMBERSHIP
Apologies of absence were received from:
Councillor Keith House (Eastleigh BC) with Councillor David Airey deputising,
Gill Kneller (Havant BC & East Hants DC) with Simon Jenkins deputising.
There were no changes to the Joint Committee Membership.

2.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the minutes from the PfSH Joint Committee meeting held on
the 25 January 2021 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Chairman made the following Announcement: This is the last meeting of a very strange municipal year and is certainly the
most challenging year that I have ever encountered in my 35 years as a
Councillor. I would like to thank you all for your forbearance in allowing the
democratic process to continue and wish good luck to anyone standing in the
forthcoming elections.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest made at the meeting.

5.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations received at this meeting.

6.

PFSH MANAGERS REPORT
The Joint Committee received a report by the PfSH Coordinator, Paddy May,
that covered issues which are significant, but do not justify a full report to be
brought to the Committee for decision or for information. The report is divided
into Parts A and B, with Part A outlining matters for decision and Part B
providing information for the Joint Committee on a variety of PfSH matters for
note.
RESOLVED that the Joint Committee NOTE the matters for information
outlined in part B of this report.

7.

PFSH BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2020/21 AND PROPOSED
BUDGET 2021/22
The Committee received a report providing an update for the Joint Committee
on progress to date against the approved budget, including a forecast outturn
for the current financial year. The report also set out the proposed revenue
budget for 2021/22.
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22 March 2021

RESOLVED that the Joint Committee: a) NOTES the budget monitoring position for 2020/21, as set out in the
report;
b) NOTES that the forecast outturn from the 2020/21 budgets is
provisional and may be subject to change in the final outturn budget
report;
c) APPROVED the proposed revenue budget for 2021/22, as set out
in the report; and
d) APPROVED the partner contributions for 2021/22 as shown on
table 5.
8.

GREENPRINT FOR SOUTH HAMPSHIRE
The Joint Committee received a report seeking financial support from PfSH to
complement that already received from other organisations and provide the
resources to allow for the Greenprint for South Hampshire framework to be
developed and shared more widely.
The Joint Committee were reminded of the comments made by the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee at their meeting on the 09 March 2021. These
comments were circulated to the Joint Committee prior to the meeting for
consideration. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee suggested that funds be
used to produce an accessible public guide to promote the Greenprint for
South Hampshire explaining what the projects might mean for local
communities.
The Chairman also suggested that it might be useful for a table to be produced
to explain where funds are coming from and what they will be allocated to, in
order to provide Members with a better understanding of the income and
expenditure for the Greenprint for South Hampshire. It was agreed that this
would be compiled and circulated to the Joint Committee after the meeting.
RESOLVED that Joint Committee AGREED to a contribution of £20,000 from
PfSH’s unallocated resources to support a programme of work to develop the
Greenprint for South Hampshire.

9.

STATEMENT OF COMMON GROUND - FINDINGS OF THE ECONOMIC
EMPLOYMENT AND COMMERCIAL NEEDS (INCLUDING LOGISTICS)
STUDY
The Joint Committee received a report which set out the findings of the
Economic, Employment and Commercial Needs (including logistics) Study.
RESOLVED that the Joint Committee NOTES the contents of the Economic,
Employment and Commercial Needs (including logistics) Study and that it will
be published on the PfSH website.
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10.

22 March 2021

PFSH NUTRIENT NEUTRALITY UPDATE
The Joint Committee received a report providing an update on the
implementation of mitigations to address the impact of the nutrient neutrality
requirements on house building.
The Chairman highlighted to the Committee, the comments received from the
09 March PfSH Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting, which were
circulated to Members prior to the Joint Committee meeting. The Overview
and Scrutiny Committee asked that the Joint Committee, request that PfSH
investigate moving the nitrate issue forward and seek Government Support.
The Chairman assured the Committee that they were doing all they could.
Several letters have been sent to the MHCLG on behalf of PfSH and officials
from the MHCLG, DEFRA, Environment Agency and Natural England are
invited to the PfSH Planning Officer Group meetings.
RESOLVED that the Joint Committee NOTES the contents of this report
outlining PfSH's activity towards unlocking the delivery of housing which has
been on hold due to the nutrient neutrality issue.
(The meeting started at 6.04 pm
and ended at 7.08 pm).
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Agenda Item 9

Report to the Partnership for South Hampshire
Joint Committee
Date:

27 July 2021

Report of:

Paddy May, PfSH Coordinator

Subject:

PFSH MANAGERS REPORT

SUMMARY
The Co-ordinator's report provides an opportunity for issues which are significant, but
do not justify a full report in their own right, to be brought to the attention of the Joint
Committee for decision or for information. The report is divided into Parts A and B
accordingly.

RECOMMENDATION
It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee:a)

NOTE the content of the Bird Aware Solent Annual Report at Appendix A
of this report and APPROVE it for publication on the PfSH website; and

b)

NOTE the matters for information outlined in part B of this report.
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PART A: MATTERS FOR DECISION
Bird Aware Solent Annual Report
1.

The Bird Aware Partnership is submitting its Annual Report, covering the period
April 2020 to March 2021. This is submitted for approval by Joint Committee, and
if given, will subsequently be posted on the PfSH website. The draft Annual Report
is appended to this report as Appendix A.

2.

Activities during this period have been heavily impacted by COVID restrictions and
at the same time Partnership staff have seen a notable increase in coastal visitors
(86%) in all areas. Despite this, the Partnership has continued to achieve
successes and won two national awards and been ranked as 'highly commended'
for two others.

3.

New ways of working have allowed for adapted forms of mitigation delivery, some
of which (such as an increase in on-site signage) will continue once COVID
restrictions are lifted. Partnership staff were also more directly involved in
monitoring activities this year than previously.

4. Progress has also been made with the delivery of Growth Deal sites, with
Warblington Farm launched during this time period. Developers have continued to
opt into the scheme, with contributions taken for 1,904 dwellings in 2020/21.

PART B: MATTERS FOR INFORMATION

PfSH Performance, Governance and Resources
PfSH Business Plan 2021-2025
5.

The current PfSH Business Plan expired last year. At its meeting on 4 June 2019,
Joint Committee agreed the current (business plan 2019/20 and that the next
Business Plan should cover a longer, medium term period of up to five years. Up
until that point, PfSH business plans have usually been drafted annually.

6.

Development of a fresh Plan to replace it 2020 was delayed due to competing
priorities within local authorities and responding to the Covid-19 pandemic. PfSH
agreed to roll the existing plan forward and defer preparation and consideration of
the new Business Plan into 2021.

7.

Progress is now being made to develop a medium term business plan covering the
period to 2025. PfSH Co-ordinators are consulting with member chief executives
on its contents and it is expected that a draft for Joint Committee endorsement will
be brought to a future meeting.
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Provision of the Democratic Service Function performed by Fareham Borough
Council
8.

PfSH has received a request from Fareham Borough Council for the
reimbursement of the democratic services function it performs on behalf of the
partnership. The request is commensurate to the reduced PfSH subscription paid
by Southampton City Council in lieu of the accounting, budgeting and auditing
support it provides. PfSH Co-ordinators will work with colleagues to understand the
base costs for the democratic service function it provides and identify options on a
fair and consistent mechanism to allow for recompense for this work. This will then
be discussed and agreed with Chief Executives. Any change has the potential to
impact on the PfSH budget 2021-22 and any shortfall will need to be covered
through the use of unallocated balances or in-year additional charges to other
authorities.

Planning & Infrastructure
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment
9.

Last year, at the request of member local authorities, PfSH commissioned the
preparation of an updated Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) for the PfSH
region. This work is wholly funded by local authority contributions from all those
wishing to be covered by the work (all PfSH members except East Hampshire
District Council).

10. A SFRA is part of the evidence base for the local plan and collates information on
all known sources of flooding that may affect existing or future development.
Officials considered that a complete refresh of the existing SFRA is needed to
assist in the review and preparation of local plans in compliance with Section 14 of
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019). The current SFRA for the
PfSH area was completed in 2007, with subsequent interim updates and reviews
in 2012 and 2016. As such, the document and mapping is now out of date, in
particular if taking account of legislation and policy changes, as well as updates to
evidence, modelling and mapping of flood risk.
11. Following a full procurement process led by Portsmouth City Council, AECOM has
been awarded the contract to undertake the work and an inception meeting took
place on 10 March 2021.
12. Since the inception meeting with members of the PfSH Steering Group convened
to maintain oversight of the work (local authority planning officials, Coastal
Partners, PfSH and Environment Agency), AECOM is progressing the work well.
Following initial stakeholder engagement and analysis of existing coastal flood
boundary data it has produced a ‘modelling approach technical note’ setting out
what modelling is proposed for the SFRA. This is currently going through an
internal quality assurance process, and once completed, will enable agreement on
the approach to our modelling requirement prior to modelling starting.
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13.

Work is expected to complete on the SFRA, including modelling and mapping, in
December 2021.

Strategic Recreation and Mitigation Partnership (Bird Aware) Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs)
Key Performance Indicators
14. During the period 1 February – 31 March, the Rangers delivered the following site
based activities (N.B. COVID Restrictions kept rangers desk based until midMarch)
 Site Visits
 People interacted with on-site
 Hours spent monitoring

11
23
4

Events (1 February – 31 May)
 Number of events attended - 2 (these were both virtual talks)
 Number of attendees – 68
The focus of the Rangers activities is different during the summer months to the
winter season owing to the birds not being present on the coastline during the
summer. COVID restrictions continue to impact upon their working practices, but
their activities have included:









3 radio interviews with Express FM, having secured a monthly slot to be
involved with this.
Two podcasts recorded with Hampshire Countryside Service
Updating the website - including an expansion of the ‘About the birds’ section
to include more bird profiles
Producing social media content and managing all channels
Building the photo/video library
Physical projects
Codes of Conduct work
Training

Social Media
During the same period 1 February to 31 May, the Rangers have also managed all
media channels and continued to grow our social media presence as follows:

o
o
o

Number and % growth of social media followers on each platform since last
update
Twitter = 170: + 8%
Facebook = 153: + 8.9%
Instagram = 248: +15.2%


o

Impressions (number of times seen) for each social media platform
Twitter - 229.4K
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o
o

Facebook - 85.9K
Instagram - 26K


o
o
o

Number of posts on social media
Twitter = 378
Facebook = 176
Instagram (including stories) = 290

The Rangers have also added 10 articles to the 'Blog' section of the website.
Water Management
15. Updates on progress towards developing a strategy for achieving nutrient neutrality
for new housing development across the PfSH region are included on the main
agenda for Joint Committee 27 July and so warrant standalone reports.

Energy and the Green Economy
16. An update on the progress of the Greenprint for South Hampshire work is included
on the main agenda for Joint Committee 27 July and so is the subject of a
standalone report.

Culture, Creative Industries and the Built Environment
Design in the Built Environment
17. In January draft design bulletins were reported to Joint Committee. The suggested
amendments have now been incorporated into the design bulletins and the
completed versions been posted on the Partnership for South Hampshire website.
The intention is that these should become a live documents and that they should
be updated periodically to reflect changes in good practice and Government policy.
Creative Industries - Creative Network South (CNS)
18. Charles Freeman (CNS Co-ordinator) and David Joel (chair) met with Sandy
Hopkins, Chief Executive of Southampton City Council and Kate Martin Executive
Director of Place at Southampton City Council to initiate a review of the work of
CNS in the light of the emergent Solent LEP economic strategy.
19. It was noted that when CNS was formed in 2012 the intention was that PfSH
support for the network should be a short term intervention - while LEP policy
emerged. Solent LEP, prior to the pandemic, commissioned PWC to produce a
creative industries issues paper and earlier this year commissioned Lichfields to
repeat the work and the report is awaited.
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20. Since its formation CNS has commissioned a series of data reports to monitor
sector performance. Earlier this year our data set was updated to provide a pre and
post pandemic snapshot. The pre-pandemic employment data shows that the
creative sector in the Solent area continued to grow at a faster rate than the rest of
the economy, however between 2015 and 2019 the rate of growth slowed. The
fastest growth rates were in the two cities Portsmouth and Southampton. Growth
rates in central rural Hampshire (Test Valley Winchester and East Hampshire)
were significantly lower than when the data was previously analysed. The highest
growth rates appear in most local authority areas (with the exception of Gosport)
to correlate with 90% plus coverage of mega-fast broadband (100mbs +).
Business Support
20.

Creative Growth South continues to provide support for early-stage creative
businesses. The growth hub is now regularly referring businesses for 1-2-1
mentoring. Charles Freeman met with both Solent University and University of
Portsmouth to discuss future support for creative businesses with a view to
developing a proposal in partnership with the universities.

21. The mapping of creative and flexible workspaces developed by Solent Growth Hub
with support from CNS has received positive feedback and has been updated
regularly by Lloyd Attrill at Solent Growth Hub.

RECOMMENDATION
It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee:a)

NOTE the content of the Bird Aware Solent Annual Report at Appendix A
of this report and APPROVE it for publication on the PfSH website; and

b)

NOTE the matters for information outlined in part B of this report.

Background Papers: None
Appendices: Appendix A Bird Aware Solent Annual Report 2020/21
Enquiries: For further information on this report please contact:
Paddy May (PfSH Co-ordinator)
Tel. No. 023 9283 4020
E-mail: paddy.may@portsmouthcc.gov.uk
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Appendix A

Solent Recreation Mitigation Partnership
Seventh Annual Report on Implementation
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June 2021

1. INTRODUCTION
1.1
The Solent coast stretches from near Lymington to West Wittering and includes the
northern shore of the Isle of Wight from near Colwell to Whitecliffe Bay near Bembridge. It
is internationally important for birds, with 125,000 waders and over 10 per cent of the global
population of Dark Bellied Brent Geese. Many of these birds travel thousands of miles to spend
the winter here. Three Special Protection Areas (SPAs) were designated on the Solent to protect
these over-wintering waders and wildfowl.
1.2
A substantial amount of housebuilding is planned around the Solent and research shows
that this new housing is likely to have potential impacts on the SPAs. One of these potential
impacts is increased recreational activity at the coast resulting from population increases
associated with the new homes. Increased recreational activity is likely to lead to increased
disturbance to the birds within the SPAs. Such disturbance interrupts their feeding which can
mean they have insufficient energy to survive the winter and complete their migratory journey
back to their summer-time breeding habitats. If that occurred, there would be a reduction in the
bird population.
1.3
Bird Aware Solent (previously known as the Solent Recreation Mitigation Partnership)
aims to prevent the additional recreational activity from harming the birds. Since 2014, it has
been operating under an Interim Strategy, but in December 2017, the longer term, more
comprehensive Strategy was endorsed by the then Partnership for Urban South Hampshire and
was subsequently approved by each local planning authority as a basis for seeking financial
contributions to mitigate the impact of housebuilding on the coastline. The new charging rate
associated with this long term Strategy came into effect on 1st April 2018. This Strategy is set
to run until 2034, and includes an in perpetuity element which will enable mitigation to continue
until 2114.
1.4
This is the seventh annual report on implementation of the Partnership’s work. It describes
the progress made during the year 2020/21 and sets out the Partnership’s plans for the year
2021/22.
1.5
This reporting period covers a period that has found us all responding to the ever
changing impacts of COVID-19. This necessitated adapting established working practices and

2

Page 18

ions

Image
1
–
P
Image 1 – Pa

being able to quickly respond to shifting circumstances, whilst taking extra measures to ensure
the safety of our staff. Alongside changes to working practices, increases in visitors to sensitive
parts of the coast were recorded and new mitigation techniques were trialled to deal with these
pressures.
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1.6
Whilst it’s been a somewhat exceptional year, it’s also been one in which the
Partnership has received recognition for its work in the form of awards, winning the Institute
of Environmental Managers and Assessors Sustainability Impact Award for Best Sustainability
Campaign and an International Green Apple Award for Environmental Best Practice,
Conservation. The Partnership also received a ‘Highly Commended’ from the Chartered Institute
of Ecology and Environmental Managers for Best Practice, Stakeholder Engagement and another
Curlew
‘Highly
Commended’ from the Drum Social Buzz Awards for Public Sector Social Media Strategy.
Each of these accolades reflects the effort and passion the entire team bring to the task in hand.
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1.7
The Partnership comprises the fifteen Solent local planning authorities, Natural England,
the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds, Hampshire & Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust, and Godwit
Chichester Harbour Conservancy. The authorities are: Chichester District Council, East Hampshire
District Council, Eastleigh Borough Council, Fareham Borough Council, Gosport Borough
Council, Hampshire County Council, Havant Borough Council, Isle of Wight Council, New Forest
Oy
District
Council, New Forest National Park Authority, PortsmouthGodwit
City Council, Southampton
Sanderling
City Council, South Downs National Park Authority, Test Valley Borough Council, Winchester City
Council.

ge
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1.8
Political governance is provided
by the Joint Committee of the Partnership
for South
Godwit
Oystercatcher
W
Turnston
Hampshire (PfSH) with the involvement of the representatives of the non-PfSH authorities . The
PfSH Joint Committee approved the 2020/21 budget at its 10th February 2019 meeting.
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2. PROGRESS DURING 2020/21
Overview
2.1
Circumstances have necessitated 2 main focuses this year. The first being the strategic
aim to further grow the work, role and reputation of the outreach work undertaken and on
continuing to build links with local stakeholders. The second was to undertake all activities in a
COVID secure way, ensuring that the safety of staff and coastal users was maintained at all times.
2.2
Following a business and contingency planning exercise, the Project Board were able to
approve the recruitment of the full Seasonal Ranger team (3 members of staff), as there was a
high level of confidence that this resource level would be appropriately utilised regardless of any
Lockdowns or restrictions.
2.3
The growing experience within the team also allowed for a full suite of activities to be
planned and organised around changing national and local restrictions and for the trialling of
new engagement ideas. Additionally the Ranger Team became actively involved in collecting the
fieldwork element of the annual monitoring survey work (conducted by independent consultants
in previous years) and various members of staff were able to undertake courses aimed at
furthering their professional development. These activities were coupled with a well-structured
approach to coastal engagement through site visits and the use of online tools such as social
media and delivering virtual presentations.
2.4
The outreach work of the team has trialled new initiatives such as creating site specific
video tour guides and using supporting technology to allow for visitors to see the images
captured by a telescope displayed on tablet screens, thus reducing COVID risks from crowding
round and sharing equipment. The Team also ran for 2nd year of the citizen science initiative ‘The
Great Solent Bird Watch’ and reached new audiences with this.

4

Page 20

2.5
Bespoke signage has been installed at several sites throughout the operational area,
allowing for our key messages to be shared with all visitors to those sites. The high design quality
of these site specific signs has received positive feedback locally and there are plans to expand
the rollout of these. The aid our work in several ways as they are able to portray our messages
even when staff are not on site, and they are able to promote our brand in a pro-active light and
help raise people’s awareness of the Partnership and they work we are undertaking.
2.6
Monitoring work has again been undertaken, but in a scaled back way owing to COVID
related restrictions. Additionally, planning for how best to complete the initial 5 year review of
the monitoring data has started.
2.7
The Bird Aware Strategy was thoroughly reviewed, with recommendations for changes
in working practices and priorities receiving political support from PfSH Joint Committee. This
work was accompanied by a full financial review which concluded that the financial structure of
the Partnership is still fit for purpose. These will be repeated regularly throughout the life of the
Strategy.
2.8

The Partnership’s expenditure during the year is set out in Appendix 1.

Mitigation measures
2.9
The key mitigation measure is a team of Rangers who patrol the coast. The rangers aim
to reduce bird disturbance by helping people to better understand the importance of the overwintering birds and their vulnerability to disturbance. They advise people on how small changes
in their behaviour can be hugely beneficial to the birds.
2.10 Rangers continue to be provided under a Service Level Agreement with Hampshire
County Council. Their close working relationship with the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife
Trust has been maintained with the Trust still feeding into their training programme, offering
mentoring and providing office space on the Isle of Wight.
2.11

The staffing structure of the Ranger team is depicted below:

Lead Ranger
Engagement
Specialist

Site Specialist

Ranger

Assistant Ranger
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Seasonal Rangers - in
post September to April
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2.12 The Rangers are still a relatively small team to cover 254 kilometres of coast. As such
(when COVID restrictions allowed) they continued to give priority to visiting coastal sections
where there was the greatest potential for bird disturbance, and those sections that afford high
levels of public interaction.
2.13 During the 2020/21 winter period, despite COVID restrictions, the rangers still managed
to carry out the following engagement activities:

Achievement

Figure

Site visits

324

Total number of people engaged with during site visits

2,149

Percentage of people who responded positively to Rangers on site

97

Leaflets distributed by rangers during site visits

0*

Leaflets distributed via leaflet boxes/local organisations

0*

Community events attended

1**

Number of people engaged with at events

97

Twitter followers at 31st March 2021

2,239

Facebook followers at 31st March 2021

2,120

Facebook like at 31st March 2021

1,845

Instagram followers at 31st March 2021

1,615

* Under COVID secure working guidleines, these were considered an unnecessary touchpoint
** Other planned events were cancelled due to COVID restrictions

2.14 Whilst it was necessary to adhere to National Lockdowns and adhere to strict social
distancing guidelines, there is no doubt that the ranger team’s lack of presence on the Solent
coast engaging with the public was a detriment to the project’s aim of reducing bird disturbance
as it lost our momentum in building relationships and raising awareness with local coastal users.
2.15 This inability to instigate face to face interactions and the sense of lost momentum came
at a concerning time, because this season we observed significantly more visitors on the coast
compared to last winter. During the 2019/2020 winter season, we saw an average of 36.8 visitors
per site visit, while this winter we observed an average of 67.4 visitors per site visit. This is an
increase of 83 percent despite rangers spending slightly less time per visit this winter (2.3 hours
versus 2.6 hours on average per site visit this winter versus last winter).

6
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2.16 However, some key stats from the period still indicate a growing awareness of the issues
we are focusing on. Such that of the 2,149 people who rangers engaged with on-site this season,
13% had spoken to a ranger in the past. 59% of visitors were aware of overwintering birds
(10% increase on last year) and 36% were aware of bird disturbance (an increase of 5% over last
winter). 97% of visitors were receptive to the key message.
2.17 Members of the Team continued to work with Natural England and the Behaviour
Insights Team on an initiative to develop some on-site interventions to encourage walkers to
less sensitive areas of the coast. Due to the timing of the 3rd National Lockdown, it was not
possible to install and monitor those. It is now intended that these will be trialled in the winter
2021/22 season. These interventions will be based upon new signage and way markers indicating
suggested walks and routes, particularly highlighting ‘dog friendly’ ones
2.18 Alongside that, some Team members undertook an online course in ‘Behaviour Change
for the Natural Environment’, conducted by a specialist from Hampshire and Isle of Wight
Wildlife Trust. This has led to a more behaviour change science approach to developing
and rolling out some initiatives. It has also helped us shape the language we use in targeted
communications and as such has led to an update of some publications and sections of our
website.
2.19 With dog ownership having increased during Lockdown, we have continued promoting
responsible dog walking. The appointment of the dedicated Dog Initiatives Lead post is now
complete, following a temporary recruitment freeze by the host authority in response to COVID.
We look forward to having this individual in place at the start of the next financial year.
2.20 Previously undertaken dog walking market research and other surveys show some
people may be willing to walk at inland sites instead of at the coast. The range of recreational
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greenspaces around the Solent has been enhanced through the Solent Local Growth Deal
funding secured by the Partnership. The completed works at Southampton Shoreburs Greenway,
Alver Valley and River Hamble Country Park all experienced increased visitor levels during
2020/21 as people made use of them as part of their permitted daily exercise routines.
2.21 Good progress has been made at the LEP and Growth Deal supported site in Havant, with
Warblington Farm now operating as a multi-purpose environmental scheme which is the first of
its kind. It provides a Brent Goose and wader refuge alongside a strategic mitigation scheme for
nutrient neutrality. Bird Aware staff were pleased to attend the official launch of this project in
September 2020 which was also attended by the Environment Minister Rebecca Pow and Tony
Juniper, Chair of Natural England.
2.22 Work on the Horsea Island project has continued to be delayed due to issues with the
current land user having to discharge Environment Agency imposed waste disposal licence
conditions on the land before being able to hand it back. Ongoing discussions with the LEP have
seen a way forward to resolve this and the commitment to provide a SANG in this area remains
strong.

Monitoring
2.23 Monitoring the effectiveness of coastal use and the mitigation measures is vital. However
it was recognised early on that owing to abnormal management and use of coastal areas due to
COVID, then any data collected during winter 2020/21 was likely to be anomalous.
2.24 At the same time, it was still considered vitally important to try and capture the impact
COVID was having on visitor numbers, coastal use and bird disturbance.
2.25 With that in mind, the Partnership worked in conjunction with Footprint Ecology, a
local consultancy, to develop a scaled back version of the planned monitoring programme
(disturbance surveys, car park counts and vantage point surveys) whereby the Rangers delivered
the fieldwork element and the consultancy create the final reports.

8
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2.26 This involved additional training for the Rangers to ensure a consistent approach and
then a substantial time commitment to undertake this work. This impacted upon the number of
direct engagement activities they could complete, but was in accordance with the results of the
business contingency planning work undertaken by the Project Board.
2.27 In addition to the work described above, it was decided to keep the 10 passive counters
installed at set points along the coast for a further 12 months so that direct comparisons could
be made between pre and during COVID times.
2.28 Work has now begun on scoping the approach to undertaking a review of the initial years
of monitoring data. This will seek to measure the effectiveness of the Strategy to date and look
to see if behaviours and attitudes of coastal users are already changing.

Information and Communications
2.29 Effective communications are key to the Partnership’s aim of raising awareness and
achieving behavioural change amongst people who visit the coast. Having the Bird Aware
branding (i.e. moving away from the less understandable Solent Recreation Mitigation
Partnership label) and the website (www.birdaware.org) have been instrumental in helping us
have our messaging understood and actively promoted.
2.30 Social media has been an increasingly important outreach tool, especially during periods
of Lockdown. This has been coupled with work to develop the website and provide more
content for coastal users. These efforts saw the creation of a ‘Lockdown Learning’ section which
provides many resources to support learning about birds and wider nature at the coast and has
proven popular.
2.31 A modest amount of paid promotions have taken place on Social Media and the results
of these have been closely monitored in an attempt to understand more about what role these
might play in our outreach work moving forward.
2.32 Further online resources have been developed to support social media campaigns and
these have been created with an eye to longevity and the ability to use them across different
platforms and in different situations. They are now supporting some presentations and other
forms of engagement.
2.33 In the autumn the Great Solent Birdwatch returned for its second year, running from
Saturday 7th till Sunday 15th November 2020. Due to COVID restrictions that were in place,
the event was run virtually, with an increased effort from the Rangers for online engagement.
Participants were encouraged to follow Government guidelines and to take part with their
households, adhering to social distancing at all times. Despite the challenges and restrictions,
there was a good uptake, with 9,615 individual birds from 59 different species recorded over
the course of the week. The project is a great opportunity to engage with our audience, by
encouraging responsible bird watching and the use of the coast. It is intended that the event will
run annually, returning in autumn 2021.
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2.34 Since October 2018 a series of press releases have been distributed to local newspapers,
media groups and news organisations. To date the take up of these has been sporadic, but
coverage has been secured in a number of significant local publications including; The Daily
Echo; The Portsmouth News; The Isle of Wight Observer and The Isle of Wight County Press.
They have also prompted invites to take part in regular discussions on the Express FM radio
station.
2.35 A new initiative this year has been to provide contribution to podcasts. These have proven
popular and are an area of outreach we are keen to develop further.
2.36 Our website - www.birdaware.org - received 9,359 users during 20/21 with 87.2% of
these being new visitors. This is approximately a third more visits than the previous year and it
has been encouraging to see the repeat visitor traffic rise within this period too.

Brand Extension
2.37 The Partnership still strongly believe that there would be a benefit in other similar
mitigation partnerships sharing the Bird Aware branding.
2.38 Work to progress this has focused on speaking at relevant events to promote this
opportunity, detailed negotiations with suitable partnerships about how they would benefit
from joining and also on seeking sources of external funding to assist with meeting the costs
associated with each partner being added to the website.
2.39

Since September 2019, Bird Aware Essex Coast has been operating as a brand partner.

2.40 There has also been strong interest from a couple of other suitable partnerships, but this
remains at the exploration and discussion phase. Should any progress to secure the equivalent
of their Board approval to proceed, the Partnership will be in a position to share which ones they
are.

Site Specific Projects
2.41 From April 2020, the Partnership has set aside £2 million every 5 years to fund series
of capital projects designed to further the aims of the strategy through the provision of visitor
management techniques, enhanced bird habitats, enhanced strategic recreational space or
public engagement and education initiatives.
2.42 Owing to the far reaching impacts of COVID, coupled with other unforeseen impacts such
as a seawall breach at one site, the supported projects have not got off to the strong start we
would have liked to have seen (see appendix 2). We do however still see strong mitigation gains
from the implementation of the supported projects, so we are working with project managers to
ensure that many of them will go ahead in the coming year.

10
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2.43 Alongside this, we have refreshed the list of projects to support in 2021/22 and had these
recommendations approved by PfSH. We hope to be able to bring these projects forward in the
second part of the coming year.

Financial contributions
2.44 The Partnership’s expenditure (excluding major projects which use Growth Deal funding)
is funded by developer contributions in association with planning permissions for new housing
around the Solent. From the 1st April 2020, the fees set on a sliding scale based upon bedroom
numbers, ranged from £356 for a one bedroom property to £927 for a five or greater bedroom
property. These are revised annually in line with RPI and rounded to the nearest whole pound.
2.45 Owing to an issue related to nitrate neutrality, several of the LPAs within the Partnership
experienced barriers to the granting of planning permissions. This has had a knock on effect to
the Partnership which has seen income levels drop. With several strategic solutions to this in the
pipeline, it is anticipated that this situation is temporary and that the granting of permissions will
be more straightforward again soon.
2.46 The Partnership continues to monitor this situation closely and is making provision for
financially prudent measures should they be necessary.

Planning permissions
2.47 Developers whose schemes will have a recreational impact on the Solent SPAs have the
option of paying a developer contribution towards mitigation measures as set out in the Solent
Recreation Mitigation Strategy, or providing their own mitigation. During 2020/21, planning
permission was granted for 1,904 dwellings which were assessed as requiring mitigation. As far
as we are aware, all of the planning applicants opted to contribute to the Strategy, as opposed
to developing their own bespoke mitigation scheme in consultation with their relevant planning
authority and Natural England.
2.48 It is now the established norm in planning appeals for the planning inspector to endorse
the principle of the developer contribution or cite the absence of mitigation as a ground for
dismissing the appeal. The Partnership is not aware of any planning appeals during the year
where the inspector did not support the need for a developer contribution to Solent recreation
mitigation.

Award News
2.49 Several accolades have come our way this past year. Firstly the Partnership was delighted
to be announced as the winner of the Institute of Environmental Management and Assessment
Sustainability Impact Awards for ‘Sustainability Campaign (Public Sector)’.
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2.50 Shortly after, the Partnership was also awarded the International Silver Green Apple Award
for Environmental Best Practice for ‘Conservation’.
2.51 The Partnership also achieved a ‘Highly Commended’ in the DRUM Social Buzz Awards
for ‘Best Public Sector Social Media Strategy/Campaign’. This was a high accolade for our small
in-house team to be credited with.
2.52 Lastly, the Partnership also received a ‘Highly Commended’ from the Chartered Institute
of Ecology and Environmental Management for ‘Best Practice, Stakeholder Engagement’.
2.53 Each of these awards is a massive achievement for such a small team and provided much
needed morale boosts within what was a very unpredictable year in so many other ways.

3. PLANS FOR 2020/21
3.1
The local authorities are pooling the developer contributions through the Partnership. A
budget has been set for 2021/22 totalling £1,992,000. This budget (reproduced in appendix 3)
will fund the implementation of mitigation measures and associated costs including project staff
and monitoring activities.
3.2
The mitigation measures described above are being funded by developer contributions
from the housing planned in Local Plans over the next 10-15 years, but legislation requires
the measures to be provided in-perpetuity. The Partnership is addressing this by investing a
proportion of the developer contributions received in order to create an investment pot which
will fund the mitigation measures in-perpetuity. It has been calculated that nearly 60% of the
developer contributions received needs to be invested in that way in order to provide sufficient
future income to fund the mitigation measures in-perpetuity.
3.3

12

The decisions, mitigation measures and other initiatives planned for 2021/22 include:-

•

Deciding upon the awarding of the second round of funding for the Site Specific Projects and
allocation of the third round;

•

Recruiting a Campaigns and Engagement Officer to lead in these areas of work for the team;

•

Implementing the third year of the agreed Marketing Strategy, growing our reputation and
sphere of influence;

•

Actioning the recommendations of the Strategy Review, including seeking more direct
involvement from Partner organisations;

•

Actively promoting the use of the Bird Aware brand to 3rd parties;

•

Seeking out potential investment options for the in-perpetuity fund;

•

Undertaking the next phase of data collection to monitor mitigation effectiveness.
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APPENDIX 1
SRMP 2020/21 Draft Accounts (period April 2020 - March 2021)

Income from contributions

£s

Income from contributions

Actual £s
1,494,020

Rangers

(287,038)

Operating costs

0

Effectiveness monitoring consultancy advice

(42,943)

Marketing Costs

(5,372)

Brand & Communications Officer

(39,453)

Partnership Coordination Officer

(34,543)

Grant Award repayment

(19,800)

Total Expenditure:

(429,148)

Balance before transfer to in-perpetuity fund:

1,064,872

Transfer to in-perpetuity fund

(1,100,000)

Total contribution to / (from) reserves 19/20

(35,128)

Balances at 31/03/2020

Actual £s
Reserves brought forward @ 31/03/20

422,624

Contribution from reserves 20/21

(35,128)

Reserves carried forward @ 31/03/21

387,496

In-perpetuity fund @ 31/03/20

1,749,083

Transfer in 20/21

1,100,000

Interest received

15,220

In-perpetuity fund @ 31/03/21

2,864,303
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APPENDIX 2
Supported projects

Site
Proposer Type
Location

LHFM and
LHOB Farlington
Marshes and
Oyster Beds

LHSM Southmore

RSBP

HIWWT

LHWT, LHBT,
LHOB Havant BC
Hayling Island

CHMA –
Chichester
Harbour

CHEH - East
Head

14

Chi Harbour
Conservancy

Chi DC on
behalf of
National Trust

Summary Progress Cost £s
Initial delays
due to
Shingle
indemnity
recharge of
wording, and
key winter
match funding
roosting
conditions
sites and
100,000
from another
associated
party. Now
wintering bird
scheduled
interpretation/
to start in
messaging.
October 2021

Bird refuge
and habitat
creation

Southmoor
Refuge and
Habitat
Provision

Bird refuge
and habitat
provision

Project
withdrawn
due to seawall 22,000
breach

Project
withdrawn
due to site no
Hayling Island
longer being
Brent Goose
progressed
and Wader
by Havant
Refuge
Borough
Council

Bird refuge
and habitat
provision

Site specific
visitor
management

Additional
fencing,
hedge-laying
and signage
at Apuldram
Manor farm

Progressing
well

222,000

3,000

Long delays
due to COVID
Creation and
Bird refuge
and staff
extension of
and site
being put on
board walk
20,600
specific visitor
furlough. Due
and fencing at
management
to start late
East Head
summer 2021.
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APPENDIX 3
Proposed 2021/22 budget

Budget

£s (000s)

Rangers

287

Dog initiatives

10

Partnership Manager

35

Operating Budget

10

Monitoring

30

Brand and Communications Lead

45

Comms operational budget

10

Graphic Design support

15

Additional post

40

Site specific projects

400

Sub-total

882

Contribution to in-perpetuity fund

1110

Total budget

1992
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Agenda Item 10

Report to the Partnership for South Hampshire
Joint Committee
Date:

27 July 2021

Report of:

Alison Barnes (NFNPA & Green Halo Partnership)
David Hutchinson (University of Portsmouth & Future South)
Simon Eden (Southern Policy Centre & Green Halo Partnership)

Subject:

GREENPRINT FOR SOUTH HAMPSHIRE: UPDATE
SUMMARY

The Joint Committee has supported the development of a ‘Greenprint for South
Hampshire’, to identify and assist in delivering our shared economic, environmental and
social objectives. Members have endorsed for wider discussion a framework
comprising five principles.
In March the Joint Committee agreed a contribution of £20,000 from PfSH’s
unallocated balances to support a programme of work to develop the Greenprint.
This report updates Members on work underway.
RECOMMENDATION
It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee NOTE the progress on developing
the Greenprint for South Hampshire.
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Background
1. As members of Joint Committee may recall, the Greenprint offers a framework for a
balanced ‘green recovery’ across the area, comprising five principles:
 Delivering net zero carbon with nature
 Promoting a natural health service
 Protecting, restoring and improving our world class blue/green environments
 Creating great places through quality in design and build
 Making our area a centre for excellence in green skills and jobs
2. These principles reflect PfSH members’ shared strategic objectives and are a focus
for collaboration to deliver a green recovery for South Hampshire. They will sit
alongside the other priorities of individual local authorities, LEPs, and those that
others will have, to meet local circumstances.
3. As the March report to Joint Committee outlined, the next step is to put flesh on the
bones of the framework, broadening the discussion about Greenprint, identifying
key outcomes and the work which supports their delivery as well as determining
how to measure performance in achieving progress and communicating with a
diversity of audiences.
4. A summary of progress is given below.
Greenprint Work Underway
5. The Project Steering Group, which includes representatives from PfSH councils, as
well as Solent LEP and the Universities of Portsmouth and Southampton, continues
to meet regularly. It has been expanded to include a colleague from Bournemouth
Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP). It is a valuable forum for updating on the
work underway in individual organisations, and facilitating sharing of ideas and
collaboration. This helps ensure a consistency of approach, and gives the
opportunity for others to learn from colleagues’ ideas and approaches.
6. From the outset of the project we had the support of a seconded post-graduate
student from Southampton University. That secondment was invaluable in helping
develop the Greenprint model. That secondment ended in March, but the University
have recently recruited a second postgraduate to assist with the project. She will be
with us until the autumn.
7. The March report outlined a number of strands of activity to be pursued. Progress
against these is summarised below:


Meetings with colleagues from PfSH and neighbour councils and other
organisations to build understanding and ownership of the framework – as
noted above, we have brought BCP Council into the project, and have also
discussed Greenprint with EM3 LEP. A series of meetings with key officer
groups across PfSH and Hampshire are planned to ensure a wider
professional input to the project;



Workshops to develop each of the principles and agree key outcomes and
performance measures – our seconded post-graduate student is continuing
work to develop both the definitions of and outcomes for the five principles.
The planned workshops will build on this, bringing in expertise from all
partners. These will take place in the autumn;
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Sector based workshops to help understand the contribution each of South
Hampshire’s key economic sectors can make to the Greenprint – we are
developing further the analysis of the impact of Greenprint priorities on the
area’s key sectors, with a view to holding these workshops in the autumn;



A data workshop to help shape the basis of the ‘balanced scorecard’ by
which progress would be measured – we have identified a group of data
professionals from local authorities and universities to take part in this
workshop, which will be convened shortly;



Ensuring that the Greenprint model is communicated to all partners across
the PfSH area and its hinterland – a small communications working group
has been set up, including representatives from the New Forest National
Park Authority, University of Portsmouth and Solent LEP. Work is in hand to
draft a set of briefing notes targeted at different audiences. We will also be
preparing a short video to introduce the Greenprint to a wider audience, and
building a website, initially to be hosted by a partner;



Two other activities will be pursued later in the year once the framework is
more fully developed:
o Community-based deliberative workshops to raise public awareness
of the Greenprint, improve understanding and garner support; and
o Hosting an event to discuss other approaches to tackling the
challenge of a green recovery, allowing for an exchange of ideas
and sharing of information.

8. Other activity underway is also helping develop the Greenprint and ensure that the
approach is integrated with other work underway across the area:
a. Alison Barnes is working with colleagues developing the Solent Freeport,
where there is an opportunity for the proposed Green Growth Institute to
complement the Greenprint model for a green recovery;
b. Alison and Simon Eden have met with PfSH officers who are leading work on
the Partnership’s Spatial Position Statement. The two initiatives should be
closely aligned, and that dialogue will continue to ensure they complement
one another;
c. Councils and others are reviewing key documents – from economic
development strategies to local plans – or developing initiatives which will
help drive a green recovery – for example actions on energy arising from
Hampshire County Council’s 2050 Commission or EM3’s work on green
skills. We will compile a ‘register’ of this activity to ensure our approach is
consistent and that we can identify opportunities for collaboration.
Recommendation
It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee NOTE the progress on developing
the Greenprint for South Hampshire.
Background Papers: None
Appendix: None
Reference Papers: A Greenprint for South Hampshire: request for funding– PfSH Joint
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Committee, 22 March 2021

Enquiries: For further information on this report please contact:Alison Barnes, Chief Executive, New Forest National Park Authority
T: 01590 646633, E: alison.barnes@newforestnpa.gov.uk
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Agenda Item 11

Report to the Partnership for South Hampshire
Joint Committee
Date:

27 July 2021

Report of:

John Harrison, Executive Director – Finance & Commercialisation

Subject:

PFSH CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2020/21
AND REVENUE BUDGETS 2021/22

SUMMARY
This report summarises the outturn against the budget for the financial year 2020/21.
This report also updates the revenue budgets for 2021/22, based on the anticipated
level of resources available and the priorities for the partnership.

RECOMMENDATIONS
It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee:a) NOTE the outturn for the financial year 2020/21 (Table 2);
b) APPROVE the Statement of Accounts for the 2020/21 financial year and
the Annual Governance Statement (Appendix 1); and
c) APPROVE the updated revenue budget for 2021/22 as set out in the
report (Table 5).
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INTRODUCTION
1.

This report sets out the final outturn expenditure position against the capital and
revenue budgets for 2020/21, and updated revenue budget for the financial year
2021/22.

RESOURCES
2.

Table 1 below shows the estimated PfSH resources that were expected to be
available for 2020/21, the actual income received and the expected resources
available for 2021/22.

3.

The expected resources for the financial year 2021/22 are the partnership
balances carried forward from 2020/21, partnership contributions and the
expected interest on balances held by SCC on behalf of PfSH.

4.

The totals for capital and revenue resources are the control totals for the budgets
detailed below.
Table 1: Total Resources Available

2020/21
Approved
Budget
£000

Revenue Funds
Core funding (local authorities)
Other contributions
Interest on balances
Underspend c/f from previous year
Total

5.

75
0
2
193
270

2020/21
Actual
received
to end
Mar 21
£000

2021/22
Proposed
Budget

76
0
0
193
269

76
0
0
152
228

£000

There are proposed partner contributions for 2021/22 of £75,750 following
approval by the Joint Committee in March 2021. Interest rates decreased
significantly during 2020/21 so the balances held by PfSH only earned £98 in
2020/21 compared to £3,757 in the previous year.

FINAL OUTTURN 2020/21 - REVENUE
6.

Table 2 below sets out the revenue budget for 2020/21, originally approved by
the Joint Committee in July 2020 and the actual outturn.

7.
Table 2: Revenue Allocations 2020/21

2020/21
Approved
Budget
£000

Culture, Creative Industries & the Built Environment
Core Projects & Central Costs
Total Core and Panel Budgets
Unallocated Balances
Total
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42
75
117
153
270

2020/21
Spend
to end
Mar 21
£000
38
80
118
118

2020/21
Under/
(Over)
Spend
£000
4
(5)
(1)
153
152

8.

Updates on the work of the delivery panels are included in the Co-ordinator’s
report to each of the Joint Committee meetings. A report on the activities of the
Culture, Creative Industries & the Built Environment was presented to the Joint
Committee in February 2021.

9.

The Core Projects & Central Costs budget reflects commitments relating to
staffing costs and other ongoing revenue activities led by the PfSH central team.

10. Unallocated Balances - There were no additional allocations to delivery panels
during the year from unallocated balances. The balance will be used to fund
potential future work of the partnership as and when opportunities arise.
FINAL OUTTURN 2020/21 - CAPITAL
11. PfSH previously secured funding under the Solent LEP Local Growth Deal, for
projects to create and enhance publically accessible greenspaces, as part of the
Solent Recreation Mitigation Project (SRMP). The remaining allocations to
projects are set out in table 4 below.
Table 4: Capital Allocations

2020/21

Solent Recreation Mitigation Project

Approved
Budget
£000
269
48
221
538

Horsea Island, Portsmouth
Shoreburs Greenway, Southampton
Havant Borough Council
Total

2020/21
Spend
to end
Mar 21
£000
48
221
269

2020/21 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS
12. The Statement of Accounts for the 2020/21 financial year and the Annual
Governance Statement are presented for approval in Appendix 1. These
statements have been reviewed by internal audit and, based on the testing
conducted, assurance has been given that adequate financial systems and
controls are in place for the administration of the PfSH accounts.
UPDATED BUDGET 2021/22 - REVENUE
13. The revenue budget allocations for 2021/22 are shown in table 5. This is based
on the 2021/22 budget as approved in March 2021.
14. At the March 2021 Joint Committee meeting, a budget of £12,500 was agreed for
the Culture, Creative Industries & the Built Environment Panel. A carry forward of
£10,000 was also agreed but the corresponding expenditure was ultimately
incurred in 2020/21 and the carry forward is therefore no longer required.
15. At the same meeting the Committee agreed to a £20,000 contribution to be made
to support a programme of work to develop a Greenprint for South Hampshire.
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16. An allocation of £75,000 has been earmarked for core activities in line with previous
years.
Table 5: Revenue Allocations 2021/22

Culture, Creative Industries & the Built Environment
Greenprint for South Hampshire Contribution
Core Projects & Central Costs
Total Core and Panel Budgets

2020/21
Budget
Allocation
£000
13
20
75
108

17. It is proposed that an Unallocated Balance of around £120,000 will be maintained
to enable the partnership to have resources available to react to potential future
opportunities as they arise.
Table 6: Unallocated balances

Balance brought forward into 2020/21
To fund 2020/21 expenditure
Contribution income 2020/21
Interest income 2020/21
Balance at end of 2020/21
To fund 2021/22 budget
Contribution income 2021/22
Interest income 2021/22
Forecast balance at end of 2021/22

£000
193
(118)
76
0
152
(108)
76
0
120

RECOMMENDATION
This Committee is recommended to:a) NOTE the outturn for the financial year 2020/21 (Table 2);
b) APPROVE the Statement of Accounts for the 2020/21 financial year and the
Annual Governance Statement (Appendix 1); and
c) NOTE the updated revenue budget for 2021/22 as set out in the report (Table 5).
Background Papers:
Appendix 1 - Statement of Accounts for the 2020/21 financial year and the Annual
Governance Statement
Joint Committee 22 March 2021 – Item 7: Budget Report
Joint Committee 22 March 2021 – Item 8: A Greenprint for South Hampshire: request
for funding
Enquiries:
For further information on this report please contact:
John Harrison, Executive Director –
Jon Evans, Finance Business Partner
Finance & Commercialisation
T: 023 8083 3162
T: 023 8083 4897
E: jonathan.evans @southampton.gov.uk
E: john.harrison@southampton.gov.uk
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Appendix 1

Partnership for South
Hampshire

Statement of Accounts
2020/21
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EXPLANATORY FOREWORD
1.

Introduction
This document contains the Partnership for South Hampshire’s (PfSH) Statement of
Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2021.
This foreword contains:

2.



a summary of the various statements which make up the 2020/21 accounts;



a broad picture of where the money comes from and what it is spent on; and



a summary of the revenue expenditure on services and capital expenditure over
the course of the year.

Summary of Statement of Accounts.
The accounts for 2020/21 are set out on pages 6 to 18. They consist of the following:


Statement of Accounting Policies – sets out the policies adopted by the Joint
Committee in preparing the Accounts.



Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts – records the
respective responsibilities of the Joint Committee and Chief Financial Officer.



Income and Expenditure Account – reports the net cost for the year of all the
functions for which the Joint Committee is responsible and how they have been
financed.



Statement of Movement on General Fund Balance – discloses the adjustments
necessary to determine the movement on the General Fund Balance



Balance Sheet – this sets out the financial position on 31 March 2021.



Cash Flow Statement - this summarises cash coming in or going out from
transactions with others for revenue and capital purposes.

In addition, the Annual Governance Statement, which reviews the effectiveness of the
system of internal control, is included on pages 19 to 24.
3.

Overall financial position
As PfSH is not able to own any assets, the balance sheet total mainly represents the
balance of funding being carried forward to the next financial year to fund ongoing PfSH
programmes. The balance sheet position as at 31 March 2021 reflects a decrease of
£311,000 compared to the previous year.
The Capital Programme in 2020/21 is funded by grant funding from the Local Growth
Deal for the Solent Recreation Mitigation Project.
Revenue funding for 2020/21 was made up of carried forward of balances from 2019/20
and in year partner contributions.
Carry forward balances from 2020/21 will be used to part fund the 2021/22 programme.
Subscriptions will continue in 2021/22 as agreed by the Joint Committee on 22nd March
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2021. This will enable the partnership to fund committed projects, undertake work in
2020/21 and also maintain an appropriate level of resources in reserves.
4.

Where the money comes from
The Joint Committee’s income in 2020/21 came from the carry forward of balances
along with interest earned on those balances. Interest rates decreased significantly
during 2021/22 so the balances held by PfSH only earned £98 in 2020/21 compared to
£3,757 in the previous year.
Table 1: Total Resources Available

2020/21

2020/21

2020/21

Approved
Budget

Actual
received

Difference

£000s

£000s

£000s

Revenue Funds
Core funding (local authorities)
Other contributions
Interest on balances
Underspend c/f from previous year
Total

5.

75
0
2
193
270

76
0
0
193
269

1
0
(2)
0
(1)

Overview of the year – revenue expenditure
The main components of the 2020/21 revenue budget and actual expenditure are set
out in Table 2 below.
Table 2 Revenue Allocations

2020/21

2020/21

Approved
Budget

Total
Spend

£000s

£000s

Culture, Creative Industries and the Built
Environment
Core Projects & Central Costs
Unallocated Balances
Total

6.
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2020/21
Under/
(Over)
Spend
£000s

42

38

4

75
153
270

80

(5)
153
152

118

7.

Overview of the year – capital expenditure
The main components of the 2020/21 capital budget and actual expenditure are set out
in Table 3 below
Table 3 Capital Allocations

Local Growth Deal – Horsea Island
Local Growth Deal – Shoreburs Footpath
Local Growth Deal – Havant
Total

8.

2020/21

2020/21

Approved
Budget

Total
Spend

£000s
269
48
221
538

£000s
48
221
269

2020/21
Under/
(Over)
Spend
£000s
269
0
0
269

Further information
Further information can be obtained about the accounts from John Harrison, the Chief
Financial Officer to the Partnership for South Hampshire Joint Committee at the Finance
Department, Southampton City Council, The Civic Centre, Southampton, Hampshire,
S014 7LY, telephone 023 8083 4897 or Email john.harrison@southampton.gov.uk.
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.

General principles

1.1

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with standard accounting practice.
Any significant non-compliance is explained in the following notes.

2.

Debtors and creditors

2.1

Debtors and creditors have been accrued in accordance with standard accounting
practice.

3.

Reserves and provisions

3.1

Specific amounts are set aside as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover
contingencies. Reserves are created by transferring amounts in the Statement of
Movement on the General Fund Balance. Expenditure on items for which the reserves
were originally created is shown as service expenditure in the Income and Expenditure
Account and then transferred back into the General Fund Balance Statement so that
there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure. Variations to earmarked
reserves are shown in the notes to the accounts.

3.2

Provisions represent legal liabilities when the amount or date of payment is uncertain.
They are charged to the revenue account in the year they are recognised.

3.3

PfSH currently maintains no such reserves or provisions.

4.

Non-current Assets

4.1

PfSH does not own any non-current assets.

5.

Specific Revenue Government Grants

5.1

Government grants for specific purposes are included in the accounts on the basis of
the grant conditions that apply. These grants are shown against the relevant service in
the Income and Expenditure Account.

5.2

PfSH did not received any grants during 2020/21. PfSH previously secured funding as
part of the Solent LEP Local Growth Deal for projects to create and enhance publically
accessible greenspaces under the Solent Recreation Mitigation Project (SRMP). A
remaining balance of funding of £538,000 was carried forward into 2020/21 to facilitate
the delivery of the Solent Recreation Mitigation Project.

6.

Financial Instruments

6.1

In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS 102) long-term debtors, debtors,
payments in advance and temporary lending are classified as loans and receivable
financial instruments. Creditors, receipts in advance and temporary and long-term
borrowing are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost.

6.2

The Joint Committee has not granted any soft loans.
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7.

Corporate and Democratic Core Expenditure

7.1

Expenditure incurred on the corporate management team is deemed to be across all
areas of PfSH activities, and has not been re-allocated to any specific PfSH activity.

8.

Service Expenditure Analysis

8.1

Expenditure has been allocated directly to the relevant service line, and there has been
no apportionment of any expenditure.

9.

Accounting for VAT

9.1

Claims for re-imbursement from other local authorities are paid net of VAT. Any claims
from other bodies not able to reclaim VAT are paid gross.

10.

Interest

10.1

Interest is calculated using the 6-month gilt yield average interest rate on the average
fund balance held by Southampton City Council on behalf of PfSH.

11.

Liquid Resources and Cash

11.1

The Joint Committee includes cash in its categorisation of liquid resources on the basis
that this is actually held as cash. No other resources are held that are readily convertible
to cash.

12.

Fair Value

12.1

All financial assets and financial liabilities carried in the statements are short term so
have been valued at face value, which is a reasonable assessment of fair value.
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS - JOINT
COMMITTEE
1.

The Joint Committee’s responsibilities
The Joint Committee is required:

2.



To make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to
ensure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those
affairs. For this Joint Committee, that officer is the Chief Financial Officer.



To manage its affairs so as to secure economic, efficient and effective use of
resources and safeguard its assets.



To approve the Statement of Accounts.

The Chairman’s Statement
I certify that the Statement of Accounts for 2020/21 were considered and approved at
the Joint Committee meeting on 13th July 2021

Councillor Seán Woodward
Chairman – Joint Committee
13th July 2021
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS - CHIEF
FINANCIAL OFFICER
1.

The Chief Financial Officer’s responsibilities
The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Joint Committee’s
Statement of Accounts in accordance with proper practices as was agreed with the Audit
Commission.
In preparing this statement of accounts, the Chief Financial Officer has sought to:


select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently,



make judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent.

The Chief Financial Officer has also:

2.



kept proper records which are up to date,



taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

The Chief Financial Officer’s statement
I certify that the Statement of Accounts presents fairly the financial position of the
Partnership for South Hampshire as at 31 March 2021 and its income and expenditure
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

John Harrison
Chief Financial Officer

13th July 2021
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Appendix 1
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT
Net
Expenditure
2019/20
£
41,890
17,500
29,065
88,455

Revenue
Expenditure
£
Cultural, Environmental and Planning Services:
Planning and Infrastructure
Culture, Creative Industries & The Built Environment
Local Growth Deal (Solent Recreation Mitigation Project)

37,500

Specific
Income
£

Net
Revenue
Expenditure
£

Payments
for Capital
Purposes
£

37,500

37,500

37,500

80,766
80,766

80,766
80,766

118,266

118,266

268,507
268,507

Net
Expenditure
2020/21
£

37,500
268,507
306,507

Corporate and Democratic Core:
70,440
70,440
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158,895
(3,757)

Central Costs

Net Cost of Services
Interest Received

80,766
80,766
268,507

386,773
(98)

155,139

Net Operating Expenditure

386,675

(55,700)

Partnership Contributions

(75,750)

99,439 Surplus(-)/Deficit(+) for Year

310,925
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Appendix 1
STATEMENT OF MOVEMENT ON THE GENERAL FUND BALANCE
The Income & Expenditure account shows actual financial performance for the year,
measured in terms of resources consumed, and generated over the last 12 months.
However, the General Fund balance takes account of reserves built up in the past and
contributions to reserves for future expenditure. This statement summarises the
differences between the outturn on the Income & Expenditure account and the General
Fund balance.

2019/20
Total
£
(834,244)

99,439

(734,805)

2020/21
Revenue
£
General Fund Balance Brought
Forward (Restated)

2020/21
Capital
£

(197,391) (537,414)

2020/21
Total
£
(734,805)

Surplus(-)/Deficit(+) for the year on
the Income and Expenditure Account

42,418

268,507

310,925

Balance on General Fund Carried
Forward

154,973

268,907

423,881
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BALANCE SHEET

2019/20
£
40,500
721,310
761,810

27,004
27,004
734,805

187,993
546,812
734,805

2020/21
£
Current Assets:
Debtors
Cash
Total Current Assets

23,600
587,461
611,061

Current Liabilities:
Creditors
Total Current Liabilities

187,180
187,180

Net Current (Liabilities)/Assets

423,881

Financed By:
General Reserves:
For Revenue Purposes
For Capital Purposes

154,973
268,907
423,881
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
2019/20
£

119,889
119,889
(15,200)
(15,200)

104,689

2020/21
£
Revenue Activities
Cash Outflows:
Operating Costs
Cash Inflows:
Other Income

118,671
118,671
(92,650)
(92,650)

Net Cash inflow(-)/outflow(+) from revenue
activities

26,021

(3,757)

Returns on Investments and Servicing of
Finance
Cash Inflow:
Interest Received

(98)

(3,757)

Net Cash inflow(-)/outflow(+) from Servicing
of Finance

(98)

29,065
29,065

Capital Activities
Cash Outflows:
Grants for Capital Purposes

107,927
107,927

Cash Inflows:
Capital grants

29,065
129,997

Net Cash inflow(-)/outflow(+) from Capital
Activities

107,927

Net Cash Inflow(-)/Outflow(+)

133,850

Note: Cash inflows are shown as negative numbers (-), outflows as positive.
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ANNUAL AUDIT RETURN
Y/E
31 Mar 2021
£
1. Balances Brought Forward

Y/E
31 Mar 2020
£

734,805

834,244

75,848

59,457

(386,773)

(158,895)

7. Balances Carried Forward (1+2+3-4-5-6)

423,881

734,805

8. Total Cash and Short Term Investments

587,461

721,310

(163,580)

13,495

2. Income From Local Taxation and/or Levy
3. Total Other Receipts
4. Staff Costs
5. Loan Interest/Capital Repayments
6. All Other Payments

9. Total Fixed Assets and Long Term Assets
10. Total Borrowings
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NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

Apportionment of Costs from Corporate and Democratic Core

1.1

All costs incurred by the PfSH corporate management team cover all PfSH activities,
and are not attributable to any individual Delivery Panel. There has therefore been no
apportionment of these costs.

2.

Interest Received

2.1

Interest is calculated using the 6 month gilt yield average interest rate on the average
fund balance held by Southampton City Council on behalf of PfSH.

3.

Partner Contributions to PfSH

3.1

The table below shows the contributions made by each partner in 2020/21.
Council
East Hampshire District Council
Eastleigh Borough Council
Fareham Borough Council
Gosport Borough Council
Hampshire County Council
Havant Borough Council
New Forest District Council
New Forest National Park Authority
Portsmouth City Council
Southampton City Council
Test Valley Borough Council
Winchester City Council

2020/21
£
900
5,200
5,200
3,500
22,700
5,200
3,500
750
15,700
10,500
1,700
900
75,750

2019/20
£
600
3,700
3,700
2,500
17,500
3,700
2,500
11,900
7,800
1,200
600
55,700

4.

Payments from PfSH to Partners

4.1

The table below sets out payments made to partners from PfSH:
Council

2020/21 2019/20
£
£
1,588
8,983
11,743
221,023
7,954
73,267
58,440
59,484
45,387

Fareham BC
Hampshire CC
Havant BC
Portsmouth CC
Southampton CC
Winchester CC
Total Payments to Partners

355,361

5.

Grants Received by PfSH

5.1

PfSH received no grant funding during 2020/21.
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132,509

6.

Debtors
2020/21 2019/20
£
£
23,600
40,500
23,600
40,500

Other Local Authorities

7.

Creditors
2020/21 2019/20
£
£
177,180
18,843
10,000
8,161
187,180
27,004

Other Local Authorities
Sundry Creditors

8.
Reconciliation of Income and Expenditure Account to net cash inflow from
revenue activities
2020/21 2019/20
£
£
Surplus(-)/Deficit(+) on Income & Expenditure
Account
Increase(+)/Decrease(-) in Debtors
Increase(-)/Decrease(+) in Creditors
Increase(-)/Decrease(+) in Receipts in Advance
Less Interest Received
Net Cash inflow(-)/outflow(+) from revenue activities

42,418

70,373

(16,900)
404

40,500
(9,941)

98

3,757

26,021 104,689

9.
Reconciliation of Income and Expenditure Account to net cash inflow from capital
activities
2020/21
£
Surplus(-)/Deficit(+) on Income & Expenditure
Account
Increase(+)/Decrease(-) in Debtors
Increase(-)/Decrease(+) in Creditors
Increase(-)/Decrease(+) in Receipts in Advance
Net Cash inflow(-)/outflow(+) from capital activities
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268,507

2019/20
£
29,065

(160,580)

107,927

29,065

10.

Reconciliation of the Movement in Cash

Increase(+)/Decrease(-) in Cash
Represented by:
Net Movement from Revenue
Net Movement from Capital
Net Movement from returns on investment

2020/21
2019/20
£
£
(133,849) (129,997)
(26,021) (104,189)
(107,927) (29,065)
98
3,757

11.

Financial Instruments

11.1

In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS 102) debtors, payments in
advance and temporary lending are classified as loans and receivable financial
instruments. Creditors (note 6), receipts in advance and temporary borrowing are
classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost. All such elements included in the
Balance Sheet are short term and have been valued at face value, which is a reasonable
assessment of fair value.

11.2

Credit risk arises from deposits with other institutions, as well as credit exposures to
PfSH's debtors. As surplus cash is temporarily invested with Southampton City Council,
PfSH is exposed to minimal risk. PfSH's debtors are generally other public sector
bodies.

11.3

PfSH has access to temporary borrowing from Southampton City Council’s cash
surpluses, so there is no significant liquidity risk of not being able to raise finance. There
is no investment in equity shares or other shareholdings, and no financial assets or
liabilities in foreign currencies so no exposure to either price risk or exchange rate risk.

11.4

In summary, the risks to which PfSH is exposed to are minimal and therefore it is not
considered necessary to perform any sensitivity analysis of the above risks as any
changes to the risks would be unlikely to be material to these accounts.

12.

Authorisation to Issue the Accounts

12.1

These Accounts were authorised for issue on 13th July 2021 by the Chief Financial
Officer, and events after the balance sheet date have been considered to this date.

13.
Other notes that require disclosure but which this Joint Committee has nothing
to report


There have been no acquired or discontinued operations during the year.



There were no exceptional items, extraordinary items or prior period adjustments
in the year.



The Joint Committee has no undischarged obligations from long-term projects.



The Joint Committee does not have any intangible fixed assets.



The Joint Committee does not have any contingent assets or liabilities.
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The Joint Committee does not have a controlling or dominant influence in any
company.



The Joint Committee has no interests that would require the production of Group
Accounts.



The Joint Committee has no Business Improvement District Schemes in operation.



The Joint Committee has no discretionary expenditure or pooled funds under the
Health Act 1999.



The Joint Committee does not administer any Trust Funds.



The Joint Committee does not have any interest in Building Control and therefore
no requirement to produce building control accounts.



The Joint Committee does not operate a scheme under the Transport Act 2000.



The Joint Committee does not have any Public Finance Initiative schemes.



No Allowances have been paid to Members.



There have been no post balance sheet events up to the date of the issue of the
accounts to the Joint Committee.

14.

Related Party Transactions

14.1

PfSH is required to disclose material transactions with related parties - bodies or
individuals that have the potential to control or influence PfSH or to be controlled or
influenced by PfSH. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the
extent to which PfSH might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently
or might have secured the ability to limit another party's ability to bargain freely with
PfSH. There were no related party transactions.

14.2

Central government has effective control over the operations of PfSH - it is responsible
for providing the statutory framework within which PfSH operates and has provided the
majority of its funding in the form of grants.

14.3

Members of the Joint Committee have direct control over PfSH's financial and operating
policies, and notes 3 and 4 set out the transactions with the parent councils of the
members of the Joint Committee. Grants awarded were made with proper consideration
of declarations of interest. The relevant members did not take part in any decision
relating to the grants. There were no related party transactions involving members or
officers.
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
1.

Scope of responsibility

1.1

The Partnership for South Hampshire (“PfSH”) is a Joint Committee comprising 11 local
authorities and one National Park Authority (“the Councils”). The primary governance
arrangements that apply directly to those members and officers of the Councils who are
engaged in PfSH activities are those maintained by their own individual local authority
(for example, Codes of Conduct). The relationship between the Councils in respect of
PfSH are set out in the Joint Agreement (“the Agreement”) which has been approved
by each of the Councils at a full council meeting. A copy of the Agreement is available
at:
https://www.PUSH.gov.uk/partnership/working-arrangements/governance/

1.2

Southampton City Council’s Director of Legal & Governance has also been appointed
as the Lead Advisor on legal and constitutional issues for PfSH, and also the statutory
Monitoring Officer for PfSH. As such, the Southampton City Council governance
arrangements take precedence, and form the basis of PfSH’s governance framework
for the operation of the Joint Committee and its activities.

1.3

Southampton City Council is the lead authority for financial matters, and Southampton
City Council’s Executive Director - Finance and Commercialisation is also the statutory
Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) for PfSH.

1.4

PfSH (“the Joint Committee”) is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted
in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded
and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. The Joint
Committee also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are
exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. In
discharging this overall responsibility, the Joint Committee is responsible for putting in
place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective
exercise of its functions, and which includes arrangements for the management of risk.

1.5

In addition to the Agreement, the Joint Committee reviewed the governance
arrangements at its meeting of 4 June 2019, and the report is available at:
https://www.push.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Item-10-Review-of-PUSH-andBusiness-Plan-2019-20.pdf

1.6

The Financial Protocols (“the Protocols”) for PFSH were reviewed at the meeting of 28
January 2014, and these are available at:
https://www.PUSH.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Item-7-Annex-A-RevisedFinancial-Protocols.pdf

2.

The purpose of the governance framework

2.1

The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and
values, by which the Joint Committee is directed and controlled and its activities through
which it accounts to, engages with and leads the community. It enables the Joint
Committee to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider
whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost effective services.
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2.2

The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to
manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve
policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an
ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the
Joint Committee’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently,
effectively and economically.

2.3

The governance framework has been in place for the Joint Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of approval of the statement of accounts.

3.

The Governance Framework

3.1

The following describes the key elements of the systems and processes that comprise
the Joint Committee’s governance arrangements including arrangements for:
Identifying and communicating the Joint Committee’s vision of its purpose and
intended outcomes for citizens and service users:

3.2

The sub-regional strategy for South Hampshire sets out objectives for growing
prosperity and improving the quality of life. Those objectives need to be translated into
actions that will deliver change. PfSH’s Business Plan sets out how the sub-regional
strategy is to be delivered. The 2019/20 Business Plan was considered by the Joint
Committee 4th June 2019.
Reviewing the Joint Committee’s vision and its implications for the governance
arrangements:

3.3

Southampton City Council has adopted a Code of Corporate Governance (“CCG”)
which identifies in one core document how the Council ensures that it runs itself in a
lawful, structured, ethical and professional manner. The CCG is administered by the
Monitoring Officer and is updated periodically by the Council’s Standards and
Governance Committee. As PfSH follows Southampton’s governance arrangements (its
Constitution etc), Southampton’s CCG reflects and represents PfSH’s governance
arrangements. The full document is published on the City Council’s internet site at:
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/policies/code%20of%20corporate%20governance%2
0-%20feb%202021_tcm63-396028.pdf
Measuring the quality of services for users, for ensuring they are delivered in
accordance with the authority’s objectives and for ensuring that they represent
the best use of resources:

3.4

The Joint Committee has adopted a Performance Framework which sets out PfSH’s
overall approach to secure on-going improvements across a wide range of services that
are provided to local residents and businesses.

3.5

The Joint Committee set indicative revenue and capital budget allocations across the
Delivery Panels and covering the core PfSH organisational costs at its meeting of 7th
July 2020.

3.6

Monitoring reports are considered by the Joint Committee periodically through the year.

3.7

These reports are available at:
https://www.PUSH.gov.uk/work/our-meetings/joint-committee/
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Defining and documenting the roles and responsibilities of the executive,
scrutiny and officer functions, with clear delegation arrangements and protocols
for effective communication:
3.8

The Joint Committee has a Joint Agreement, Governance Framework and Financial
Protocols setting out how it operates, how decisions are made and the procedures
followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people.
Some of these processes are required by the law, while others are a matter for the Joint
Committee to choose.

3.9

The Governance Framework and Financial Protocols set out the detailed rules
governing the Joint Committee’s business including details of the scheme of delegation
that provide for delegation to senior officers (Lead Chief Executives and the Executive
Director).
Developing, communicating and embedding codes of conduct, defining the
standards of behaviour for members and staff:

3.10

Members and officers acting on behalf of PfSH are required to follow their individual
authority ‘Members’ Code of Conduct’ or ‘Officer Code of Conduct’ as appropriate.

3.11

The Members’ Code covers areas of individual behaviour such as Members not abusing
their position or not misusing their authority's resources. In addition there are rules
governing disclosure of private interests and withdrawal from meetings where Members
have relevant interests. Members are also required to record on the public register their
financial and other interests.
Reviewing and updating standing orders, standing financial instructions, a
scheme of delegation and supporting procedure notes/manuals, which clearly
define how decisions are taken and the processes and controls required to
manage risks:

3.12

The Joint Agreement sets out how the Joint Committee operates, how decisions are
made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient,
transparent and accountable to local people. This includes information on how the Joint
Committee operates, how decisions are made and the role of overview and scrutiny.

3.13

Periodically, as appropriate, the Monitoring Officer, together with the CFO, conducts a
review of the Joint Committee’s governance arrangements, which are considered by the
Joint Committee from time to time.

3.14

All reports submitted to the Joint Committee for a decision must receive legal and
financial clearance prior to publication in accordance with the published procedures.
Undertaking the core functions of an audit committee, as identified in CIPFA’s
Audit Committees – Practical Guidance for Local Authorities

3.15

It is not practical for PfSH to have a formally constituted Audit Committee whose role
would be to provide independent assurance to the Joint Committee or Overview and
Scrutiny Committee on the adequacy of the risk management framework and the
internal control and reporting environment, including (but not limited to) the reliability of
the financial reporting process and the annual governance statement. The Joint
Committee therefore acts in this capacity directly to receive the accounts, annual
governance statement and the reports of the appointed auditor.
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Ensuring compliance with relevant laws and regulations, internal policies and
procedures, and that expenditure is lawful:
3.16

It is the role of the Monitoring Officer and the CFO to ensure compliance with relevant
laws and regulations and that expenditure is lawful. This is achieved through the
governance framework including the Joint Agreement itself and the Financial Protocols.
Whistle-blowing and receiving and investigating complaints from the public:

3.17

Any complaints received by the Joint Committee in respect of unlawful conduct,
illegality, financial malpractice or dangers to the public, employees or the environment
would be dealt with by the Monitoring Officer, in line with Southampton City Council’s
procedures.

3.18

The Joint Committee does not employ staff directly, but rather by the relevant
constituent authorities. Each council is required to have its own whistle blowing policy,
and staff can utilise these for any activities of PfSH.
Identifying the development needs of members and senior officers in relation to
their strategic roles, supported by appropriate training:

3.19

The Councils individually have their own programmes for member and senior officer
learning and development to cover general development needs. From time to time,
PfSH organises member and senior officer workshops to address emerging
development needs specific to the Joint Committee.
Establishing clear channels of communication with all sections of the community
and other stakeholders, ensuring accountability and encouraging open
consultation:

3.20

PfSH has established a Communications Strategy. In addition, the Joint Committee is
able to draw on the existing communication channels of the Councils.

4.

Review of effectiveness

4.1

The Joint Committee has a responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of
the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal control.
The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of the appropriate officers.

4.2

The review process applied in respect of maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of
the system of internal control, is informed by:


the work of Members/Officers within the Joint Committee;



audit and other periodic reports from the Internal Auditor;



reports received from service review agencies or inspectorates where appropriate

5.

The Joint Committee

5.1

The Joint Agreement forms the cornerstone of effective corporate governance,
supported by the Governance Framework and the Financial Protocols. It has been
approved by the full Council meetings of each of the partner local authorities.

6.

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee

6.1

The Joint Agreement establishes a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the
following terms of reference:
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To scrutinise and call in Joint Committee decisions.



To scrutinise in particular the PfSH Business Plan and its delivery.



In respect of any call in:
o To review decisions made in accordance with the approved business plan and
where they consider it appropriate, refer such decisions back to Joint Committee
with comments for reconsideration;
o To review decisions not made in accordance with the approved business plan
where they may either refer such decisions back to Joint Committee with
comments for reconsideration or refer the decision back to individual authorities.
The Council has a formally constituted Audit Committee whose role it is to
provide independent scrutiny.

7.

The Joint Committee acting as an Audit Committee

7.1

The Joint Committee receives reports to meet certain statutory obligations, such as
approving the Annual Governance Statement and the Statement of Accounts.

8.

The Delivery Panels

8.1

The Governance Framework has established four Delivery Panels based on service
delivery themes, with each Panel being responsible for overseeing and driving the
implementation of the relevant area of the Business Plan. The panels are:


Planning and Infrastructure



Energy and Green Economy



Culture, Creative Industries and The Built Environment



Euro Collaboration

9.

Internal audit

9.1

The Joint Committee does not operate an Internal Audit function. However, the
Southampton City Council / Portsmouth City Council shared internal audit service
undertakes an assurance role that provides an independent and objective opinion to the
CFO and to the external auditor that adequate financial systems and controls are in
place. The audit plan for PfSH is agreed with the CFO.

10.

Other review/assurance mechanisms.

10.1

The Annual Governance Statement is reviewed each year. This statement, insofar as it
is applicable to a Joint Committee, follows the guidance set out within the CIPFA
framework: “Delivering Good Governance in Local Government” published in 2016.

11.

Significant governance issues

11.1

No significant governance issues have been identified, however we will continue to
review our governance arrangements from time to time and on at least an annual basis.

11.2

We propose over the coming year to take appropriate steps to address matters arising
out of such reviews to further enhance our governance arrangements. We are satisfied
that this will address the need for any improvements that might be identified in our
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review of effectiveness and will monitor their implementation and operation as part of
any subsequent review.

Signed _____________________________________
Councillor Seán Woodward, Chairman.
13th July 2021

Signed ______________________________________
Paddy May, PfSH Co-ordinator.
13th July 2021
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Agenda Item 12

Report to the Partnership for South Hampshire
Joint Committee
Date:

27 July 2021

Report of:

David Bibby, Principal Planning Officer (Strategy), Test Valley
Borough Council

Subject:

PfSH NUTRIENT NEUTRALITY UPDATE

SUMMARY
There is evidence of high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus in the Solent water
environment, including evidence of eutrophication at some internationally designated
sites. This must be addressed as required by the Habitats Regulations. The
achievement of nutrient neutrality is a means of ensuring that new housing
development does not add to existing nutrient burdens.
This report provides an update on recent progress made on the work that PfSH is
undertaking with partners to address the issue of achieving nutrient neutrality from
development across the sub-region. In light of the advice from Natural England, the
aim continues to be to develop a PfSH-wide strategic approach to mitigation in order
to achieve nutrient neutral development - and deliver the planned housing
development compliant with the Habitats Regulations. Action continues under a
number of work streams as outlined in this report. The work undertaken by the PfSH
Strategic Environmental Planning Officer is covered in a separate report.
Since the last meeting of Joint Committee on 22 March the following activity has
taken place:


The Environment Agency (EA) has appointed a dedicated official to lead its
review of consents for Waste Water Treatment Works (WwTW) Nitrate (N)
permits that it is undertaking. The EA is currently scoping the breadth of the
review which will target the area around the Solent.



Southern Water has completed its voluntary monitoring of nitrate levels in
Waste Water Treatment Works (WwTW). The results show a wide variance in
the figures for total nitrogen (TN) discharges recorded, but generally that the
level for those WwTW without N removal is close to the catchment average of
27mg/l used in the Natural England advice and budget calculator. Natural
England therefore confirmed that it does not consider it appropriate to amend
their guidance or budget calculator for non-permitted WwTW. The data
collected is helpful in better understanding the levels of N discharged from
WwTW which do not currently have an N permit and could feed into the review
of consents.
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Two judicial reviews of decisions to grant planning permission for two
residential developments in Fareham Borough have were heard together by
the High Court. These confirmed that the approach to addressing the nutrient
neutrality issue and achieving nutrient neutral development in line with the
advice of Natural England was legally sound.



The Strategic Environmental Planning Officer (SEPO) has been developing
proposals for sub-regional mitigation in bringing together and building upon
current and developing local mitigation schemes. This is the subject of a
separate report



PfSH continues to engage with central government, particularly DEFRA and
the SEPO is liaising with colleagues at DEFRA regarding his work for the subregion. Progress continues to be made in developing the DEFRA Solent
Nutrient Trading Pilot Project. Research undertaken with end users has shown
widespread interest from developers and landowners. DEFRA is keen to
engage with PfSH on the legal requirements of implementing the scheme.
The design element of the platform's development has gone out to tender. It is
planned that the pilot will be implemented in early 2022.

This report provides a statement of the position at the time of writing. Any further
progress will be given as a further verbal update to the meeting.
RECOMMENDATIONS
It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee NOTE the content of this report
outlining PfSH's activity towards unlocking the delivery of housing which has been on
hold due to the nutrient neutrality issue.
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SHORT TERM MITIGATIONS - DEALING WITH THE IMMEDIATE ISSUE
1. A number of mitigation options continue to be implemented and explored by
individual PfSH local authorities, depending upon local circumstances. In some
cases these have formal council approval, and also the approval of Natural
England. Some local authorities have also revised their positon regarding the
issue of nutrient neutrality in the determination of planning applications. These
have been taken into account in considering a sub-regional approach within the
work undertaken by the PfSH SEPO.
MEDIUM TO LONG-TERM MITIGATION STRATEGY (PfSH ACTIVITY)
Environment Agency (EA) – Review of Consents (Review of Waste-water
Treatment Works (WwTW Nitrate (N) Permit Limits)
2. Following the outcome of the EA Directors meeting on the 25 January 2021 to
instigate a targeted review of permits in the Solent to address the implications of
the Dutch N ruling, a dedicated officer has now been appointed to lead the review.
The EA is currently scoping the breadth of the review which will target the area
around the Solent. The review constitutes a significant piece of work for the EA,
which has so far been unable to confirm timescales. The PfSH Water Quality
Working Group has made representations to the EA to request that an aim should
be to complete the review with sufficient time to feed into the start of the next five
year investment programme for Southern Water (2025-2030). Clarification has
also been sought on: the scope of the review compared to the previous one, its
geographical scope, implications for WwTW, both those currently with an N permit
limit and those without, and on the timescales and milestones including
opportunities for stakeholder engagement.
Southern Water Voluntary Monitoring of major Waste-water Treatment Works
(WwTW) Nitrate (N) discharges
3. In April 2021 Southern Water completed its one year of monthly voluntary
monitoring of nitrate levels discharged from major Waste-water Treatment Works
in the Solent catchments, including those with no Environment Agency nitrate or
'N' permit. The results of the monitoring have been considered by an expert group
from Southern Water, EA and Natural England. The results show a wide variance
in the figures for total nitrogen (TN) discharge recorded, but generally that the level
for those WwTW without N removal is close to the catchment average of 27mg/l
used in the Natural England advice and budget calculator. The conclusion of
Natural England is therefore that there is insufficient evidence for a change to the
current approach and it has confirmed that they do not consider it appropriate to
amend their guidance or budget calculator for non-permitted WwTW for N. A copy
of Natural England's position statement issued following consideration of the
results is attached as Appendix A.
4. The monitoring work has been a useful and valued exercise in confirming the
value of using 27mg/l where WwTW do not an N permit limit. It has also shown
how variable the data can be. Moving forward, further work in the form of regular
composite sampling over a year to take account of daily and seasonal fluctuations
to establish WwTW specific levels is advised. There is also no certainty that
WwTW will continue to operate to maintain current performance levels into the
future, (in the absence of an N permit). Consideration of these issues could fall
within the scope of the EA review of consents - outlined in paragraph 2 above.
Judicial Reviews
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5. Two judicial reviews ([2021] EWHC 1434 (Admin) and [2021] EWHC 1435 (Admin)
of decisions to grant planning permission for two residential developments in
Fareham Borough have were heard together by the High Court in May 2021.
These confirmed that the approach to addressing the nutrient neutrality issue as its
affects the international nature conservation designations in and around the
Solent, and achieving nutrient neutral development in line with the advice of
Natural England was legally sound.
Work of the Strategic Environmental Planning Officer
6. The Strategic Environmental Planning Officer has been developing proposals for
sub-regional mitigation in bringing together and building upon current and
developing local mitigation schemes. This is the subject of a separate report. A list
of the currently available mitigation schemes, including contact details, which
developers
can
access
has
been
published
in
PfSH
website.
https://www.push.gov.uk/work/mitigation-schemes-available-to-developers/
Engagement with Central Government
7. PfSH continues to engage with central Government, particularly DEFRA and the
SEPO continues to liaise regularly with colleagues there regarding his work for the
sub-region.
8. Progress continues to be made in developing the DEFRA Solent Nutrient Trading
Pilot Project - with DEFRA working in partnership with PfSH, Natural England and
other key stakeholders. DEFRA officials also attended the meeting of the PfSH
Planning Officers Group on 14 May to report on the progress of its rapid user
testing. The pilot is intended to test a market based approach to nutrient mitigation
which would assess the costs and feasibility of potential solutions compared to
other options and wider benefits. It will trial a process to enable developers to
connect via its platform to land managers to enable solutions which are fit for
purpose and to enable mitigation to be scaled up in a viable manner and which
will be in place cover the necessary perpetuity period.
9. Research undertaken with end users has shown widespread interest from
developers and landowners. Landowners have asked if they will have the ability to
‘stack’ the benefits of taking part in line with other initiatives such as the
Environmental Land Management Scheme (ELMS) and if land use change for
mitigation will also allow it to be used for other (compatible) income generating
purposes. An FAQ document for these groups is being prepared by DEFRA.
Ongoing stakeholder engagement will continue, in particular on testing the
platform, guidance and governance arrangements. DEFRA is keen to engage with
PfSH on the legal requirements of implementing the scheme.
10. The EA is leading on gathering evidence on how best to monitor and enforce the
use of mitigation land. The Solent Agricultural Pollution Investigation (SAPI) is
also currently being concluded.
11. The design of the platform has gone out to tender and the market rules for the
sale of credits is now being considered. It is planned that the pilot will be
implemented in early 2022.
12. Details on the trading pilot project are available on the PfSH website
https://www.push.gov.uk/defra-trading-platform/
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CONCLUSION
13. Action continues under a number of work streams as outlined on the report, in
order to progress addressing the nutrient neutrality issue, working with key
partners and stakeholders. A further update will be provided to the next meeting
of the Joint Committee in October.
RECOMMENDATION
It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee NOTE the content of this report
outlining PfSH activity towards unlocking the delivery of housing which has been on
hold due to the nutrient neutrality issue.
Appendices: Appendix A - Natural England Position Statement
Background Papers: None
Reference Papers: None
Enquiries: For further information on this report please contact:David Bibby, Principal Planning Officer (Strategy), Test Valley Borough Council
T: 01264 368105
E: dbibby@testvalley.gov.uk
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Appendix A
Southern Water Voluntary TN monitoring at SWTs in the Solent Catchment
Natural England Position
Southern Water (SW) have provided Natural England with voluntary spot sampling
data of TN at sewage treatment works (STWs) across the Solent catchment
undertaken on behalf of PfSH authorities over the last year. The purpose was to
assess effluent TN levels to check the accuracy of the 27mg/l average currently used
within Natural England’s Solent nutrient guidance for non-permitted STWs in the
catchment, with the aim to inform more bespoke levels for each STW to be used
when calculating nutrient budgets for development.
The dataset is fairly large with 517 samples from 42 STWs. There is wide variation in
the concentrations of TN recorded, in part because there are low TN values from
STWs with a TN consent concentration limit (i.e. works with tertiary N removal)
alongside data from STWs with no tertiary N removal. Some STWs have very large
ranges in TN data values which statistically will give large error margins around the
sample mean. A summary of this data, and how these values compare with the
numbers used within the nitrogen calculator is provided in Table 1.
Initial analysis of the raw data has indicated that generally effluent levels from STWs
without tertiary N-removal are close to the catchment-average figure of 27 mg/l N
currently used in the guidance. This default catchment-wide figure derived from
sampling of two STWs in the Solent catchment and was found to be in line with data
from Wessex Water data, which currently is considered the best evidenced and
precautionary value to use until further evidence becomes available. Having a
catchment-wide figure also provides the advantage of reducing the influence of
deviations in performance from individual STWs.
As it stands Natural England considers the voluntary TN monitoring dataset does not
robustly evidence a change from the default 27mg/l. We advise further work would be
required in the form of regular composite sampling (i.e. multiple samples a day as
opposed to spot sampling) over a year to take account of daily and seasonal
fluctuations, to enable confidence in establishing STW-specific levels for calculating
nutrient budgets.
Furthermore, even where enough data is provided to enable more accurate annualaverage effluent levels for the different STWs, there is no certainty that works will be
operated to maintain this performance level into the future. This raises the more
fundamental question as to how bespoke effluent rates for individual STWs would be
suitably secured, monitored (and enforced) in perpetuity to ensure compliance with
the Habitats Regulations. It may be that this falls within scope of the Environment
Agency’s planned Permit Review however the projected timescales mean that this is
unlikely to happen in the short term.
Therefore, based on the data provided and the problem with securing alternative
effluent levels at non-TN permitted STWs, it is not at this time considered appropriate
by Natural England to amend the guidance and calculator with regards to how to deal
with non-TN permitted STWs.
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Table 1: The mean and range of Total Nitrogen present within water samples collected from wastewater treatment works across
Hampshire and West Sussex (STWs with permits shaded with permit value in brackets)
Wastewater Treatment Work
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Ashlett Creek
Bank
Barton Stacey
Beaulieu
Bishops Waltham
Boldre
Bosham
Brockenhurst
Budds Farm
Buriton
Chichester (Apuldram)
Chickenhall
Chilbolton
East Boldre
East Grimstead
East Meon
Fullerton
Godshill
Graemar Cottages
Harestock
Kings Somborne
Liss
Lyndhurst
Millbrook
Morestead
New Alresford
North Waltham
Oakley (Ivy Down)

Number of
samples
14
13
13
5
13
6
13
13
14
12
13
12
12
13
12
12
13
8
4
13
14
12
15
13
9
9
9
14

Total N: Mean (mg/l)
31.96
11.78
13.38
11.48
12.40
11.98
7.73
23.07
7.32
30.55
4.30
21.07
21.2
20.66
21.92
39.41
26.7
32.26
16.56
24.10
15.20
31.15
14.57
6.89
21.28
16.01
13.62
35.61

Total N: Range (mg/l)
17.8 – 52.9
4.65 – 19.3
11.1 – 17.4
6.36 – 15.4
4.44 – 20.60
7.27 – 17.1
1.83 – 15.50
7.00 – 40.40
4.24 – 9.55
11.10 – 36.50
1.76 – 7.13
7.33 – 28.2
16.7 – 30.7
8.54 – 40.2
10.7 – 39.80
12.0 – 67.2
19.9 – 34.70
13.3 – 46.0
3.09 – 34.9
19.70 – 29.50
10.0 – 28.50
14.80 – 40.20
8.23 – 20.80
2.96 – 11.00
13.80 – 25.10
14.60 – 19.40
10.1 – 20.60
24.20 – 45.80

Nutrient Calculator Value
(Permit Type*)
27
27
27
27
15 (TN)
27
10 (TN)
27
9.7 (TN)
27
9 (TN)
27
27
27
27
27
27
27
27
27
27
27
27
10 (TN)
27
27 (TIN – 25 mg/l)
27 (TIN – 20 mg/l)
35 (TIN)

Wastewater Treatment Work
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Overton
Peel Common
Pennington
Petersfield
Portswood
Redlynch
Romsey Combined
Roud
Sandown
Slowhill Copse
South Harting
Thornham
Whitchurch
Woolston
*TN = Total Nitrogen
TIN = Total Inorganic Nitrogen

Number of
samples
7
20
28
15
8
13
20
9
7
13
13
13
13
14

Total N: Mean (mg/l)
37.87
5.89
6.39
14.49
23.93
16.89
21.76
19.31
17.12
8.35
13.39
7.70
21.88
6.98

Total N: Range (mg/l)
27.10 – 45.90
1.11 – 8.61
2.86 – 10.50
1.00 – 20.70
2.96 – 40.90
8.98 – 25.10
8.18 – 41.30
12.60 – 26.40
9.22 – 24.50
4.86 – 13.50
5.61 – 30.80
5.30 – 9.48
17.30 – 25.50
5.52 – 9.91

Nutrient Calculator Value
(Permit Type*)
27
9 (TN)
9.5 (TN)
27
27
27
27
27
27
14 (TN)
27
10 (TN)
32 (TIN)
15 (TN)

Agenda Item 13

Report to the Partnership for South Hampshire
Joint Committee
Date:

27 July 2021

Report of:

Simon Kennedy, PfSH Strategic Environmental Planning Officer

Subject:

NITRATE MITIGATION, RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE
STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING OFFICER –
NUTRIENT NEUTRALITY IN THE SOLENT

SUMMARY
This update report identifies the key findings of the work of the Strategic Environmental
Planning Officer (SEPO) and provides the following recommendations.

RECOMMENDATION
It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee:a) NOTE the content of this report; and
b) ENDORSE the recommendations to member local planning authorities that:i. PfSH local planning authorities consider the purchase of nitrogen
mitigation credits from mitigation suppliers specifically to meet the needs
of minor development based on an individual Authority's assessment of
need.
ii. PfSH local planning authorities that wish to purchase credits are
recommended to do so on a combined catchment basis to ensure best
market value is achieved.
iii. PfSH local planning authorities use a standard suite of template legal
agreements to reduce the legal costs to developers and to make the
determination of application process more efficient.
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Background
1. The water environment around the Solent area is recognised as one of the most
important for wildlife in the UK. Sites within the Solent are protected by water
environment, conservation of habitats and species regulations, as SPA, SAC and
Ramsar. The quality of the water, and therefore, impacts from wastewater outfalls,
are therefore a potential impact/concern for the condition of these sites and the
wildlife they support.
2. The impact of new build development on protected sites must be recognised in all
proposals that are subject to a Habitats Regulations Assessment. Details relating
to the impact of effluent from new development on the protected sites in the Solent,
and the need for a nutrient neutral approach for future development has been
reported to the Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH) previously1.
3. Advice available from Natural England2 provides information on both the
conservation status of the protected sites and the nutrient neutral approach.
Natural England have also developed a nutrient calculator which enables a
quantifiable assessment of the likely significant effect from development to be
made, as well as the ability for different forms of land use change to mitigate that
effect. The advice of Natural England has recently been considered fit for purpose
by the High Court with appropriate application of the precautionary principle3,4.
4. The Natural England nutrient calculator provides outputs expressed in kilograms
of total nitrogen per year. The term total nitrogen (TN) is the sum of nitrate-nitrogen
(NO3-N), nitrite-nitrogen (NO2-N), ammonia-nitrogen (NH3-N) and organically
bonded nitrogen. One kilogram of total nitrogen per year (kg/TN/yr) is commonly
referred to as one ‘mitigation credit’.
5. In light of the advice from Natural England, and associated case law, our aim is to
develop a PfSH-wide strategic approach to mitigation in order to achieve nutrient
neutral development – and assist in the delivery of planned housing development
compliant with the Habitats Regulations.
Work Undertaken by Strategic Environmental Planning Officer
6. Recognising that the issue of total nitrogen, and its impact on protected sites and
development, crossed local planning authority (LPA) administrative boundaries,
the Partnership for South Hampshire appointed a Strategic Environmental
Planning Officer (SEPO) who commenced his role in late December 2020. The
primary purpose of the SEPO is to assess options to allow sustainable
development to be undertaken in regard to its total nitrogen impact on protected
sites.
7. In addition to the member authorities of the Partnership for South Hampshire, the
SEPO post is also part funded by South Downs National Park Authority,
1

PfSH Joint Committee Meeting Page - Nutrient Neutrality Updates from 2019 - 2021
Natural-England’s-latest-guidance-on-achieving-nutrient-neutrality-for-new-housing-developmentJune-2020.pdf (push.gov.uk)
3 Save Warsash and the Western Wards, R. (On the Application of) v Fareham Borough Council
[2021] EWHC 1435 (Admin) (28 May 2021) (bailii.org)
4 Wyatt, R. (On the Application of) v Fareham Borough Council [2021] EWHC 1434 (Admin) (28 May
2021) (bailii.org)
2
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Basingstoke and Deane Borough Council and Chichester District Council all of
which are also within the impacted catchment areas of the Solent.
8. In order to inform the work of the SEPO the first work undertaken was substantive
stakeholder engagement. In the initial round of stakeholder engagement over 40
substantive stakeholder engagement meetings took place, these included:






Meetings with LPAs
Meetings with government agencies such as DEFRA, EA and NE
Meetings with possible providers of mitigation land, agents and developers
Meetings with water and drainage providers
Attending webinars to raise awareness and generate mitigation leads.

9. The stakeholder engagement process is ongoing and iterative. However, the
findings of the SEPO with regard to key themes has been verified by the same
results arising from the stakeholder engagement programme undertaken by the
DEFRA Solent Trading Platform Team. The main findings from this work were:
 The availability of mitigation options to allow sustainable development is
insufficient to meet the need for new housing


There exists significant uncertainty (cost and time) relating to the legal
framework to secure mitigation through the planning process.



There is a disproportionate impact on SMEs and deliverers of minor
development due to the administrative and legal costs associated with
delivering mitigation through the planning process

10. The SEPO is on one of the working groups for the DEFRA Solent Trading Platform
and this forms a key stakeholder engagement activity. The work of the SEPO and
the DEFRA Solent Trading Platform are closely managed to ensure a joined-up
approach to the issue of enabling sustainable development in the short, medium
and long term. More information on the DEFRA trading platform can be found at
Appendix 1.
11. The stakeholder engagement process has informed the further work undertaken
by the SEPO shown in the following sections.
Availability of Credits
12. In 2020 PfSH successfully bid for a £2m loan from the Solent Local Enterprise
Partnership (LEP) from the Government’s Getting Building Fund to be used to
secure off site mitigation land in order to assist in unlocking the delivery of housing
which has been on hold due to the nutrient neutrality issue. The Solent LEP advised
that the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust would act as its preferred
strategic partner to oversee a land use change mitigation scheme funded with the
proceeds of PfSH’s bid.
13. Along with schemes brought forward by the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife
Trust, there are also several other schemes available to mitigate the impact of
nutrients for development
14. In order to ascertain whether availability of credits remains a key issue within the
Solent region, a full assessment of supply and demand for nitrogen mitigation was
undertaken. The situation is complicated by the fact that development in some
parts of South Hampshire can be off-set in several different catchments in
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accordance with Natural England’s advice note (June 2020). However, the overall
supply and demand assessment found that within the East Hampshire catchment
there is sufficient supply of mitigation to meet the needs of development in the
medium to long term (over 5 years of supply). Within the Chichester and Test and
Itchen catchments there is sufficient supply of mitigation to meet the immediate
need (backlog) and the short to medium term need (1-5 years of supply). The New
Forest catchment is the only catchment that does not have sufficient mitigation to
meet the immediate need for development (backlog).
15. As well as supply of mitigation already available in the market as described in
paragraph 4.3, there are also a number of emerging schemes that are likely to
provide further mitigation to satisfy the need for the New Forest catchment. A full
analysis of the supply and demand position for each catchment can be found at
Appendix 2.
Impact on Minor Development
16. The stakeholder engagement highlighted a disproportionate impact on the cost of
delivering nitrogen mitigation in through the current open market mechanism.
17. Further investigation has found that there is a disproportionate financial cost to
smaller development in the current open market system. The disproportionate
impact is due to legal and arrangement costs involved with securing mitigation, the
extra arrangement cost is not considered sufficient to make any significant
difference in viability. The impact of the disproportionate financial burden on minor
development and small and medium enterprises (SMEs) can be found in Appendix
3.
18. Additionally to the direct financial costs to developers, smaller-scale developers
can face difficulties in accessing mitigation credits for two reasons. Firstly, they
tend to lack the in-house skills and resources required to deal in complex legal
agreements (see section 6) and secondly, private mitigation suppliers tend to
prefer to sell credits to larger developers where there is less administration time
spent proportionately to the size of the purchase.
19. A reduction in legal costs through a strategic approach to the legal framework by
local authorities may reduce the proportionate impact on smaller development and
SMEs. However, without intervention by LPAs a disproportionate impact will
remain.
20. The potential consequences of a disproportionate impact could include detrimental
repercussions relating to:
•

•

Planning Implications
•

Meeting national and local planning objectives, including the
NPPF (2019) requirement for 10% of all planned development to
be on sites of less than 1 hectare.

•

Impact on brownfield, windfall and regeneration development

•

Reduced ability to ensure the right houses are built in the right
places (housing supply and housing need)

Wider Implications
•

Jobs
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•

Local economy

•

Skills

Legal Framework to Support Mitigation
21. The stakeholder consultation process highlighted that the complex legal

agreements required to support third party mitigation land through the planning
process is currently both expensive and time consuming. Currently, securing
available mitigation through the planning system involves complex, often multipartite agreements, made under Section 106 of the 1990 Town & Country Planning
Act (s.106), for each individual permission providing new overnight
accommodation.
22. When considered in the context of the current and future supply of credits, a
standardised approach to managing the risk of enforcement action for privately
owned mitigation sites is a key factor in stimulating uptake of mitigation and
delivery of sustainable development.
23. By dealing with the management and monitoring considerations up-front, to secure
effective mitigation in perpetuity, it is likely that the backlog of development can be
permitted more efficiently and in less time. It may also provide greater certainty to
mitigation providers and facilitate further mitigation schemes coming forward. The
need to deal with securing the management and monitoring upfront has been
backed up by the results from the stakeholder engagement referenced in section
2.
24. Fareham Borough Council have developed an approach to the satisfaction of the
LPA, NE, the mitigation provider and the development industry. The approach
covers the majority of the required legal work up-front with mitigation providers and
allows a much simpler approach to legal agreements on an individual application
basis, particularly by transferring enforcement powers for mitigation sites outside
of the administrative area of the permitting LPA. It is intended to use this approach
to provide a framework of legal template agreements to substantially reduce both
the cost and time related to securing mitigation through the planning process. The
legal approach developed by Fareham Borough Council was not one of the
grounds for the recent Judicial Reviews that dealt with nutrient neutrality. Although
the draft legal template will require further consideration by individual LPAs, a copy
of the draft template can be found at Appendix 4.
Options Assessment
25. In the context of LPAs meeting their policy objectives for housing need5 through
the plan making and planning decision making processes, there are a range of
potential options available to LPAs based on the evidence provided in this report
and an individual LPAs approach to risk. This section provides a summary of the
main options available to LPAs and informs the recommendations of this report.
The conclusions reached have been informed by communication with the SEPO
Steering Group (consisting of officers from the constituent LPAs) and individual
meetings with LPAs.
No Intervention
National Parks have no requirement to meet housing need as per footnote 6 – Paragraph 11 of the
NPPF
5
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26. Local Authorities have no statutory duty to provide mitigation for future
development. However, they do have a legal requirement to consider the
availability of mitigation in compliance with the Habitat Regulations, as a competent
authority, when plan making or planning decision making.
27. Appendix 1 shows that there is now sufficient supply in the nutrient mitigation
market to supply the immediate need for development across all catchments apart
from the New Forest Catchment. Evidence suggests that further mitigation sites
will become available to the market across all catchments, including in the New
Forest catchment.
28. Although the immediate and short term need are likely to be met, mainly from
privately owned commercial mitigation schemes, it is clear that the emerging open
market system may have a disproportionate impact on minor development (see
Section 4) and the speed at which planning applications can be determined may
be limited due to the complex legal frameworks required (see Section 5).
Conclusion of do-nothing scenario
29. If LPAs take no action, and do not use a joined-up approach to the legal
agreements to secure mitigation in perpetuity, then it is likely that the residential
and overnight accommodation market will be slow to recover. The slowness of
recovery would be a result of the length of time it would take to process the backlog
of applications, and the expected rush of new applications, under the open market
system.
30. It is anticipated that in a do-nothing scenario there could be a detrimental impact
on LPAs ability to meet housing delivery test, and 5-year supply, benchmarks in
the short term whilst also having a detrimental impact on place making and
economic objectives as shown in paragraphs 12-20 of this report. As a minimum
LPAs should seek some level of conformity in the approach to a legal framework
to support privately owned mitigation sites through the planning process. However,
it is fully recognised that the degree of intervention will be a decision for individual
planning authorities, having regard to development viability and the profile of
planned development in their respective areas.
Strategic Scheme – LPA Led Scheme
31. This option would consist of each LPA providing a contribution that would create a
central funding pot. The funds would then be used to purchase the control of land
for nitrogen mitigation purposes, through either a long lease or freehold purchase.
32. As no river/groundwater catchments are able to serve all development over the
impacted area, advice from Natural England suggests this option would require a
minimum of six strategic sites to cover all of the Local Authorities in the Solent
impacted by the issue.
33. The considerations when assessing the business case for a strategic, LPA led
scheme, vary greatly between catchments and relate to factors such as market
saturation, future price of credits and land cost and availability.
34. Although in a LPA led scheme there may be greater ability to ensure added benefits
are provided through the control of a site for nitrogen mitigation, as well as some
potential to receive a significant return on capital, there are also significant financial
risks associated with the delivery of such a scheme. The risks mainly relate to
future changes in the way nitrogen mitigation is provided and the future open
market cost of credits. A review of the potential changes to the mitigation market
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can be found at Appendix 1. A review of the financial considerations to LPAs
relating to the purchase or control of mitigation sites can be found in Exempt
Appendix 5.
Conclusions of LPA Led Strategic Scheme Option
35. It is clear that there is the potential for a return on investment to Local Authorities
through the purchase or long lease of land for the purposes of nitrogen mitigation,
this option would also provide the simplest and quickest route for developers to
obtain their required mitigation as well as provide significant scope to deliver
additional benefits on the site such as nature conservation or public access.
36. Notwithstanding the potential advantages of a LPA led scheme there is significant
risk associated with the purchase or long-term lease of land to provide LPA led
mitigation schemes. The risks relate to:
•

uncertainty regarding the future quantum of credits available in the market
and the associated impact on the market value of the credit in a
competition scenario,

•

potential changes in the need for mitigation or the way mitigation is
provided through interventions by stakeholders such as Southern Water or
DEFRA and

•

the ongoing management and liability regarding control of the asset.

37. Local Authorities should certainly not be discouraged from developing their own
mitigation offer. However, due to the potential financial risks and variances across
the catchment areas it is considered, in consultation with LPAs, that a fully strategic
approach involving LPA led schemes is not appropriate for all Local Authorities.
Strategic Scheme – LPA Purchase of Credits from Existing Schemes
38. Local Authorities have the option to purchase credits directly from mitigation
providers. By purchasing credits under a overarching legal agreement Local
Authorities will be able to sell mitigation credits directly to developers seeking
planning permission., This approach would substantially reduce the time it takes
for permissions to be granted and mitigate the impact on minor development shown
in Section 4 of this report.
39. In this scenario individual Local Authorities would buy relatively small amounts of
credits in tranches. By purchasing a smaller amount of credits Local Authorities are
much better placed to control financial risks associated with option 2 (Appendix 5).
Appendix 4 shows that there may be substantial changes to the mitigation market
in the future. For example, the DEFRA trading platform may have a significant
impact on the market and is currently forecast to begin the roll out of the platform
in Spring 2022. Based on potential changes in the market it is considered that LPAs
should purchase credits for no more than their individually assessed need up to
the summer of 2022. The situation can then be reviewed in 12 months from the
publication date of this report and further tranches purchased as required.
40. To further reduce financial risk to the LAs, and to meet the identified need of minor
development LPAs have the option to purchase credits to be made available only
for minor development or below a threshold determined by an individual LPA. For
some LPAs the assessment of need just for minor development up to the summer
period of 2022 may be relatively low, in order to obtain best market value when
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purchasing credits, it would be advisable that LPAs purchase credits on a
catchment wide consortium basis.
41. The business case for the bulk purchase of credits will vary between catchments
and by Local Authorities through their individual assessments of need. Further
information is available within Exempt Appendix 5 regarding the potential financial
implications of this option to authorities.
Conclusion of LPA Purchase of Credits Option
42. The approach of bulk purchasing credits from existing mitigation providers would
allow Local Authorities to ‘pump prime’ the mitigation market. This would allow
sustainable development to re-commence whilst protecting Local Authorities from
the financial risks associated to future changes in the market. This approach may
also facilitate further mitigation sites to come forward or make emerging mitigation
sites deliverable.
43. The potential to provide a small return on investment and make the administration
of the scheme cost neutral credits must be secured at below the current market
rate, this is only possible if a significant amount of credits are being purchased
(over 150 credits). As such this scenario is more effective if approached as a
consortium of Local Authorities undertaking a purchase for their combined
assessed need.
44. It is therefore the recommendation of this report that LPAs consider the purchase
of credits from the mitigation market to meet the need of minor development up to
autumn 2022.
RECOMMENDATION
It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee:a) NOTE the content of this report; and
b) ENDORSE the recommendations to member local planning authorities that:i. PfSH local planning authorities consider the purchase of nitrogen
mitigation credits from mitigation suppliers specifically to meet the needs
of minor development based on an individual Authority's assessment of
need.
ii. PfSH local planning authorities that wish to purchase credits are
recommended to do so on a combined catchment basis to ensure best
market value is achieved.
iii. PfSH local planning authorities use a standard suite of template legal
agreements to reduce the legal costs to developers and to make the
determination of application process more efficient.
Appendices
Appendix 1 – Potential future changes to the mitigation market
Appendix 2 – Supply and demand analysis
Appendix 3 – Investigation of disproportionate impact on minor development
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Appendix 4 – Draft precedent s106 agreement for nutrient mitigation
Appendix 5 (Exempt) – Financial implications of options available to LPAs

Enquiries:
For further information on this report please contact:Simon Kennedy, PfSH Strategic Environmental Planning Officer
T: 01329 824522
E: skennedy@fareham.gov.uk
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Appendix 1
Recommendations of the Strategic Environmental Planning Officer
-Nutrient Neutrality in the Solent

Potential Future Changes to the Mitigation Market
1.1 As part of the stakeholder engagement process an assessment has been made
of the currently prevalent solutions as well as potential future solutions to
deliver nitrogen mitigation.
1.2 Currently nitrogen mitigation for development is almost entirely formed of land
use change that reduces the nitrogen load onto non-development land and
therefor mitigating the impact of development. There are also a number of
wetland sites emerging as mitigation, this is still considered land use change
but has a much lower land requirement than other land use change
mechanisms. Both forms of mitigation are recommended in Natural England
advice to planning authorities (June 2020).
1.3 The stakeholder engagement identified that there is some concern that large
scale land use change is the appropriate mechanism to mitigate the impact of
nitrogen from development.
On site-mitigation
1.4 On-site mitigation is considered the most appropriate mechanism for mitigation
by a number of stakeholders, this view is supported by best practice in dealing
with pollution under the ‘Source – Pathway – Receptor’ model.
1.5 The most viable solution for onsite mitigation is effective SuDS and bioretention schemes, work is currently being undertaken by a number of
stakeholders to establish the scientific principles to support SuDS and bioretention schemes as effective nitrogen mitigation. However, as SuDS can only
address surface run off and potentially grey water, it will be unable to mitigate
the impact from effluent from development and is unable to provide a complete
solution.
1.6 On-site measures are unlikely to available to all development. However, it is
considered likely that over time increased uptake of onsite measures will
reduce the required quantum of off-site land use change mitigation.
1.7 There is also some potential for engineering solutions with some stakeholders
looking at innovative solutions to provide a primary treatment process to
effluent on site.
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DEFRA Trading Platform
1.8 Investment of £3.9m in development of an online trading platform to link
mitigation providers with developers and administer the delivery mitigation to the
development industry.
1.9 The Solent online trading platform is currently in development with the platform
currently anticipated to come online start coming online in Spring 2022.
1.10 Although the outcomes of the trading platform are yet to be fully determined, the
resources being employed to develop the system may result in bringing further
land use change mitigation forward and providing more efficient and costeffective mitigation.
1.11 The trading platform may also be able to include future environmental benefits
and associated mitigation such as bio-diversity net gain. The ability to ‘stack’
environmental mitigation land for a number of purposes is a consideration within
the work currently being undertaken by DEFRA.
Sewerage Undertaker Improvements
1.12 It is clear that the operation and investment plans of sewerage undertakers, and
the permits applied to their works, has a considerable impact on the need for
mitigation arising from development. The current variations in total nitrogen
permit limits between Waste Water Treatment Works creates significant variation
in the mitigation needs across the Solent.
1.13 The Environment Agency (EA) has confirmed that a review of Waste Water
Treatment Works (WwTW) Nitrate (N) permits will take place. However, no
timescales have been provided for this work. The permit review is a key element
in enabling appropriate investment by Southern Water in improvement to
WwTWs.
1.14 As sewerage undertakers are responsible, and have a statutory requirement, for
the treatment of effluent prior to release directly to protected sites, it is the strong
view of the Local Authorities that sewerage undertakers have a responsibility to
mitigate the impact on any protected site from nutrients when planning for
improvements to their infrastructure.
1.15 Southern Water, as the main sewerage undertaker in the impacted area, is
currently formulating its Drainage and Waste Water Management Plan. The
deadline for this work is currently 31st December 2022 and should inform the
capital investment programme from 2026. This work will be subject to a Habitats
Regulation Assessment.
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Conclusions of Horizon Scanning
1.16 There are a number of potential solutions emerging that may improve the way
that mitigation is delivered for development in the Solent. However, the emerging
solutions are yet to be at a stage where they can be compared to current land
use change solutions and confirmed as appropriate to provide mitigation to
satisfy the needs of LPAs and development. The emerging solutions are not at a
stage that they can be assured of dealing with the short-term issues.
1.17 Due to the potential of future solutions providing more effective solutions relating
to mitigation of total nitrogen arising from development, it is considered that Local
Authorities should deliver a short term solution that is replicable should none of
the future solutions deliver improved benefits. Local Authorities should, at this
stage, not seek to secure credits for development into the medium and long term
as the way mitigation is delivered may change over that time scale and place any
capital investment at considerable risk.
ENDS
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Appendix 2
Supply and Demand Analysis
1.1 The supply and demand shown within the tables in this appendix are all shown as
Kilograms of Total Nitrogen Per Year (KG/TN/Yr), with one KG/TN/Yr amounting
to one mitigation ‘credit’.
1.2 The data relating to supply of mitigation credits is based on extensive market
engagement and represents sites that have the ability to mitigate the impact of
nutrients on the Solent’s protected sites. The sites listed as contributing to current
supply are all at advanced stages of consultation with Natural England, or have
agreement from Natural England with regard to the quantum of credits available
from each scheme, and are actively marketing their scheme to developments in
multiple local planning authorities (LPAs).
1.3 The demand for credits is based on an assessment of individual LPAs housing
need assessment and is calculated using the standard method calculation for the
LPA and the main waste water treatment works that development in that LPA
drains to. The calculation includes an assessment of the waste water treatment
works as variations in technology at waste water treatment works means that the
amount of mitigation required to mitigate the impact of one dwelling is different
depending on the waste water treatment work that the dwelling drains to. The
demand figures provided in this report do not include tourist accommodation.
1.4 It is fully acknowledged that the supply and demand figures will not be an exact
representation of supply and demand over time. In part the variance is due to
complexities in fluvial catchment areas and waste water treatment works for
individual LPAs and developments, however, it is considered that this appendices
provides an evidence based assessment of the supply and demand position for
each catchment with minor variances having unlikely to have any significant
impact on the overall position shown. The existing and emerging mitigation sites
shown in this appendices are in no particular order and are used to show the
potential total mitigation only.
1.5 For the purposes of this appendix immediate need is considered to be the
backlog of live applications awaiting mitigation, short term need is considered to
be between one and four years of supply, whilst medium term need is considered
to be five to seven years of supply.
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Chichester Catchment
1.6 The current supply and demand position for the Chichester catchment can be
seen in figure 1. Figure 1 shows the total need for mitigation from both minor and
major development to provide an overall view of supply and demand.

Figure 1 – Chichester - Current supply and demand position shown as stacked columns (need) and stacked lines
(supply)

1.7 In the Chichester catchment there are also a number of emerging schemes for
nitrogen mitigation, these schemes are yet to have Natural England sign off or
be available to the development market. However, there is a high likelihood of
these schemes coming forward should supply fail to meet demand and are
shown in figure 2.

Figure 2 – Chichester - Emerging supply and demand position shown as stacked columns (need) and stacked
lines (supply)
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1.8 It is acknowledged that a small amount of development in Havant may drain to
a Waste Water Treatment Works (WWTW) in Chichester, and as such have an
effect on Chichester Harbour as is indicated within figures 1 and 2. However,
development in the area of Havant which drains to Chichester WWTWs also
includes large strategic allocations that are not included in figure 1 or 2. Initial
indications show that these larger developments are likely to either be able to
mitigate nutrients on-site, or that they will be processed by Budds Farm
WWTWs and therefor will require mitigation from the East Hampshire
Catchment and not the Chichester catchment.
Conclusions from Chichester Supply and Demand Analysis
1.9 Uncertainty over future housing provision makes it difficult to assess the future
supply and demand relationship. There is currently enough nitrogen credits within
the mitigation market to meet immediate need. It is also likely that there will be
enough nitrogen credits available in the open market to meet the short term need
for mitigation. There is some possibility that sufficient mitigation may come
forward to satisfy the medium to long term need.
East Hampshire Catchment
1.10 The East Hampshire catchment contains a number of authorities that have
delivered their own short term nitrogen mitigation schemes including water saving
measures retrofitted to existing housing stock and provision of land use change
mitigation. These schemes have allowed some sustainable development to
continue in the areas where a scheme has been available.
1.11 The current supply and demand position for the East Hampshire Catchment can
be seen in figure 3. Where a supply of credits is indicated in figure 3 this relates
to sites that are actively marketing credits to the development sector and have
received confirmation from Natural England that the mitigation site is suitable in
principle.
1.12 It should be noted that development in the New Forest District Council waterside
area drains to WWTW’s that outfall in an area that can be mitigated within the
East Hampshire Catchment and have been included in the East Hampshire
Catchment analysis as such.
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Figure 3 - East Hampshire – Current supply and demand position shown as stacked columns (need) and stacked
lines (supply)

1.13 There are also a number of emerging mitigation schemes in the East Hampshire
catchment. Figure 4 shows the impact on supply and demand when accounting
for an emerging wetland scheme with a very high likelihood of coming forward.

Figure 4 - East Hampshire - Emerging supply and demand position shown as stacked columns (need) and
stacked lines (supply)

Page 91

Conclusions from East Hampshire Supply and Demand Analysis
1.14 The East Hampshire catchment provides sufficient mitigation to meet the needs
of sustainable development in both the short and medium term. It is likely that the
East Hampshire catchment will provide sufficient mitigation to satisfy
development into the long term.

Test and Itchen Catchment
1.15 The need for mitigation land in the Test and Itchen catchments is severely
impacted by the number of WWTW in the catchment without TN permit levels.
The number of credits required to mitigate one dwelling in some areas of the Test
and Itchen catchment could require over three times the amount of mitigation
than those developments draining to WWTW in other parts of the impacted area
that employ better technology with tighter TN limits in place.
1.16 The uptake of private mitigation schemes to market has also been slower in the
Test and Itchen catchments than other catchments. The variation of mitigation
offers in this catchment when compared against the East Hampshire catchment
is due to the differing models of land ownership between the two catchments.
1.17 The current supply and demand position for the Test and Itchen Catchment is
shown in Figure 5. The emerging supply and demand position is shown in
Figure 6.

Figure 5 - Test and Itchen Catchment - Current supply and demand position shown as stacked columns (need)
and stacked lines (supply)
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Figure 6 - Test and Itchen Catchment - Emerging supply and demand position shown as stacked columns (need)
and stacked lines (supply)

Conclusions from Test and Itchen Supply and Demand Analysis
1.18 Within the Test and Itchen catchment there is currently enough supply to meet
the immediate need for mitigation. However, it is anticipated that the current
supply is unlikely to meet demand for more than two years based on the
assumption there is unreported un-met need (as many developers may have
chosen to wait until mitigation is available prior to submitting applications). The
emerging mitigation position would ensure a steady supply of mitigation for up to
four years dependant on the amount of allocated sites that may be able to
provide mitigation on-site.
1.19 Any changes in the total nitrogen discharging from un-permitted WWTW, as a
result of a targeted permit review by the Environment Agency, may significantly
change the supply and demand position in this catchment. However, although it
is clear that there is enough mitigation to meet immediate to short term need
there is a clear requirement for further mitigation to come forward in the medium
term in order to confirm that future development will be able to access mitigation.
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New Forest Catchment
1.20 The New Forest catchment is particularly complex due to the number of small
WWTWs that serve development in this area as well as differences in the way
that WWTWs in the catchment discharge into protected waters.
1.21 In instances where development drains into Pennington WWTW mitigation is
available from sites within the New Forest Rivers catchment and from mitigation
sites in parts of the Isle of Wight. In instances where development drains to a
WWTW that discharges into the New Forest Rivers catchment, Naural Englands
published advice (Version 5, June 2020) is thatonly mitigation within the New
Forest Rivers catchment will be effective.
1.22 There is a current immediate need for mitigation draining to Pennington WWTW
of approximately 130 credits with a 5-year need of around 530 credits. The need
for mitigation relating to development that drains to WWTW that discharge into
the New Forest Rivers Catchment is mainly made up of minor development,
windfall development and a limited number of smaller site allocations in the
National Park area and as such is harder to quantify. However, it can be
assumed that there is an immediate need of at least 100 credits and a 5 year
need of around 200 credits. The absence of TN permit limits for development in
the more rural areas of the NFNP results in any development having a greater
impact than development served by the Pennington WWTW.
1.23 At this time there is no mitigation scheme available for either development
draining to Pennington WWTW or for development draining to WWTW which
discharge into the New Forest Rivers Catchment.
1.24 There are currently two emerging schemes that may serve the New Forest
catchment. Scheme 1 is a land use change scheme on the Isle of Wight
estimated to produce up to 1000 credits, although when considered against
Natural England’s current advice, this scheme would only serve development
draining to Pennington WWTW. Scheme two is a land use change scheme
currently being negotiated by the land owner and HIWWT, this scheme would
serve development draining to both Pennington WWTW and WWTWs that
discharge into the New Forest Rivers catchment.
Conclusions for New Forest Catchment Supply and Demand Analysis
1.25 The New Forest Catchment is at high risk of not being able to deliver sustainable
development in the short term. Should the coastal land use change currently
being explored by the HIWWT not come forward than it is unlikely that
sustainable development will be achievable for any overnight accommodation for
much of the New Forest National Park and some parts of New Forest District
Council Local Plan area. Should the Isle of Wight site also fail to come forward
then sustainable development will not be achievable across the whole catchment.
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Appendix 3
Investigation of Impact on Delivery of Minor Development
1.1 The worked example below shows that legal fees and administration fees
require to secure mitigation from providers and through the planning process
create a proportionally higher cost for minor development.
Example of disproportionate impact (Example A)
1. Conversion of derelict A1 use into 4 dwellings (East Hampshire
Catchment) 0.7 credits needed per house
•

2.8 credits required at a cost of £2500 a credit = £7000

•

Admin and legal fees to mitigation provider = £5000

•

Legal fees to LPA = £2500

•

Total cost of mitigation = £14,500

•

Total cost of mitigation per dwelling = £3625

2. Construction of 100 dwellings without on-site mitigation (East
Hampshire Catchment) 0.7 credits needed per house
•

70 credits required at a cost of £2500 a credit = £175,000

•

Admin and legal fees to mitigation provider = £5000

•

Legal fees to LPA = £2500

•

Total cost of mitigation = £182,500

•

Total cost of mitigation per dwelling = £1825

This example shows a 66% relative increase in the cost of delivering mitigation per
house for minor development.

Example of disproportionate impact (Example B)
1. Conversion of derelict A1 use into 4 dwellings (Test and Itchen
catchment draining to waste water treatment works with no TN permit).
Each dwelling requires 3 credits.
•

12 credits required at a value of £3000 a credit = £36,000

•

Admin and legal fees to mitigation provider = £5000

•

Legal fees to LPA = £2500

•

Total cost of mitigation = £43,500

•

Total cost of mitigation per dwelling = £10,875
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2. Construction of 100 dwellings in town centre location (Test and Itchen
catchment draining to waste water treatment works with no TN permit).
Each dwelling requires 3 credits.
•

300 credits required at a value of £900,000

•

Admin and legal fees to mitigation provider = £5000

•

Legal fees to LPA = £2500

•

Total cost of mitigation = £907,500

•

Total cost of mitigation per dwelling = £9075

Example shows 18% relative increase in cost of delivering mitigation for minor
development

1.2 The above examples are based on a number of assumptions that may vary
between catchment and Local Authority in terms of relative disproportionate
impact on providing mitigation. However, the principle relating to increased
costs for smaller development through apportionment of legal and
administrative costs stays the same for all catchments and authorities where
the open market system is being used.
1.3 Although there is no formal definition related to an SME developer it is
generally considered that each SME developer will contribute between 1 and
100 units a year to housing supply across their operating area. The vast
majority of minor development across the Solent area is delivered by small and
medium enterprises (SME) developers.
1.4 Government policy seeks to promote diversification in the housebuilding market
through support to SME development, particularly in light of the Covid
pandemic limiting the ability of these companies to deliver new homes. This is
also reflected in the NPPF (2019), which acknowledges that small and medium
sized sites make an important contribution to meeting the housing requirement
of an area; and requires local planning authorities to promote the development
of a good mix of housing sites (paragraph 68).

Conclusions of Disproportionate Impact on Minor Development and SMEs
1.5 Although it is clear that due to apportionment of legal and administrative costs
there is a disproportionate impact on smaller development this can vary greatly
dependant on the relative scale of developments and the receiving WWTW.
ENDS
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Appendix 4
Draft Precedent s106 Agreement for Nutrient Mitigation
1.1

This appendix provides a draft precedent s106 agreement to enable
privately owned mitigation to support development through the planning
application process. There remains a number of points that must be
resolved in order for this document to form the basis of agreements
across all LPAs in the impacted area. LPAs have been issued with the
draft agreement supplied below as well as associated advice and
suggested approaches to overcome outstanding matters. This work
remains ongoing at this time and aims to produce an agreed legal
template that can then be adapted where necessary by constituent local
planning authorities in the impacted area.
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Draft Precedent s106 agreement

Dated:

20

[MITIGATION LAND LPA]

and

[MITIGATION LAND OWNER]
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AGREEMENT
pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 and other powers relating to
land at [ ]

THIS DEED is made on

20

BETWEEN:
(1)

[

] of [

] (“the Mitigation Land Authority”); and

(2)

[

] of [

] (“the Mitigation Land Owner”)

RECITALS
A

The Mitigation Land Authority is the local planning authority for the purposes of
the Act for the area in which the Mitigation Land is situated.

B

The Mitigation Land Owner is the freehold owner of the Mitigation Land
registered with title absolute at the Land Registry under Title Number(s) [ ].

C

In accordance with the Habitats Regulations local planning authorities may only
grant planning permission where they are satisfied that there will not be adverse
effect on the European Designated Sites as a result of the proposed
development.

D

High levels of nitrates in the European Designated Sites means that local
planning authorities in the Catchment Area cannot be satisfied that additional
residential and other overnight accommodation will not have an adverse effect
as a result of increased levels of nitrogen being discharged via wastewater
treatment works.
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E

In order to ensure that there is no such adverse effect, it is proposed to offset
the increase in nitrogen arising from the Occupation of a Development by inter
alia imposing appropriate and counter-balancing restrictions on proportionate
parts of the Mitigation Land.

F

The Mitigation Land Authority and the Mitigation Land Owner have agreed to
enter into this Deed in order to regulate the use of the Mitigation Land in
contemplation of applications for planning permission in respect of future
development comprising residential and other overnight accommodation in the
Catchment Area.

IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

1

DEFINITIONS

1.1

1.1

In addition to the definitions set out below, a series of specific definitions are included

in the Schedule to this Deed giving further defined terms and expressions to facilitate
interpretation and unless stated to the contrary the specific definitions in the Schedule shall
apply throughout this Deed where the relevant terms and expressions are used.
1.2

1.2

In this Deed the following expressions shall have the meanings indicated:

“Act”

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended)

“Activation Date”

The date of service of the first Notice of Purchase

“Agriculture”

(a)

use for horticulture, fruit growing, seed growing (including
the growing of cereal crops);

(b)

use for dairy farming;

(c)

use for the breeding and keeping of livestock (any
creature kept for the production of food, wool, skins or fur
or for the purpose of its use in the farming of land);

(d)

use of the land as grazing land; and

(e)

use as market gardens or nursery grounds,

and ‘Agricultural’ shall be construed accordingly
“Application”

Any planning application for residential development
or development comprising other overnight
accommodation in the Catchment Area submitted to
and validated by the appropriate local planning
authority
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“Catchment
Area”

The area(s) in which Development drains to [list
suitable WWTW eg the Southern Water Peel
Common Waste Water Treatment Works]

“Commence”

The carrying out of a “material operation” (as
defined in section 56(4) of the Act) in connection
with a Development (and “Commencement” and
“Commenced” shall be construed accordingly)

“Conditional
Contract”

A contract for the purchase of Credits entered into
by the Mitigation Land Owner and any person
wishing to purchase Credits that is conditional upon
the grant of a Permission

“Credits”

Credits sold by the Mitigation Land Owner to a
developer that correspond to the Credits Linked
Land where one Credit equates to 1 Kg per annum
of total nitrogen reduction (as against historic
discharges on the Mitigation Land) in discharges
from the relevant Credits Linked Land each year

“Credits Linked
Land”

Such part of the Mitigation Land identified in the
Notice of Purchase and which area corresponds to
the number of Credits purchased in order to off-set
anticipated additional nitrates from a particular
development, and which for the avoidance of doubt
shall not correspond to more than one specified
development

“Deed”

This agreement made by deed

“Development”

The development of Development Land in
accordance with a Permission

“Development
Land”

The land which is the subject of an Application

“Enabling
Powers”

Section 106 of the Act, Section 33 of the Local
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982,
Section 22 of the Cities and Local Government
Devolution Act 2016 and Section 1 of the Localism
Act 2011

“End Date”

The date 125 years from the date of this Deed

“European
Designated
Sites”

Collectively the Solent and Southampton Water
Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site,
Portsmouth Harbour SPA and Ramsar site,
Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA and
Ramsar site, the Solent Maritime Special Area of
Conservation and the Solent and Dorset Coast SPA
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“Habitats
Regulations”

The Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017

“Index”

The All in Tender Price Index published by the
Building Costs Information Service of the Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors or any successor
organisation or index

“Index Linked”

For the purposes of any payment or financial
contribution expressed to be Index Linked means
adjusted in accordance with the Index by
multiplying in each case the payment due by a
fraction whose denominator shall be the last Index
monthly figure published before the date of this
Deed and whose numerator shall be the last
published Index monthly figure available before the
date on which payment is due but which for the
avoidance of doubt shall not fall below the original
payment figure

“Initial
Verification
Contribution”

The sum of [£xxxxx] [(amount in words)] Index
Linked to cover the Mitigation Land Authority’s costs
of monitoring compliance with this agreement until
the Twenty Year Date calculated based on [xx] visits
at a cost of [£xxx] per visit.

“Interest”

interest at 4 per cent above the base lending rate of
the Barclays Bank Plc (calculated on a daily basis
from the date on which it fell due until the actual date
of payment)

“Legal Costs”

The Mitigation Land Authority’s reasonable legal
costs incurred in the preparation, negotiation and
execution of this Deed

“Mitigation Land”

The land known as [
] shown for identification
purposes only edged with a red line on Plan 1

“Nitrate Mitigation A written notification of the completion of a
Proposals Pack” Conditional Contract and which shall include the
following information:





Name of developer entering into the
Conditional Contract;
Details of the Development to benefit from the
Credits proposed to be purchased pursuant to
the Conditional Contract, to include application
number, description and location;
Number of Credits to be purchased pursuant
to the Conditional Contract;
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“Notice of
Purchase”

Nitrogen budget for the proposed Credits
Linked Land;
 Details of the proposed Credits Linked Land to
include a plan with the proposed Credits
Linked Land clearly identifiable and specifying
the size of the proposed Credits Linked Land
in hectares.
A written notification (from the Mitigation Land
Owner to the Mitigation Land Authority, a copy of
which is to be provided to the purchaser) of the
purchase of Credits to include the following
information:



“Occupation””

Name of developer purchasing the Credits;
Details of the Development to benefit from the
Credits, to include application number,
description and location;
 Number of Credits purchased;
 Nitrogen budget for the Credits Linked Land;
 Details of the Credits Linked Land to include a
plan with the Credits Linked Land clearly
identifiable and specifying the size of the
Credits Linked Land in hectares.
Occupation for the purposes permitted by a
Permission but not including occupation by
personnel engaged in construction, fitting out or
decoration or occupation for marketing or display or
occupation in relation to security operations and
“Occupy” and “Occupied” shall be construed
accordingly

“Plan 1”

The plan annexed hereto and marked “Plan 1”
showing the Mitigation Land edged red

“Permission”

A full or outline planning permission subject to
conditions to be granted by a local planning authority
pursuant to an Application (and for the avoidance of
doubt shall include any modifications of such
planning permission and variations of conditions
attaching to such planning permission, and any
minor or non-material amendments to such planning
permission provided such modifications, variations
or amendments do not increase the number of
Credits required for the Development and is first
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
in which the Development Land is located)

“Twenty Year
Date”

The date twenty years from the Activation Date
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“Verification
Contribution”

“Woodland
Planting
Scheme”

“Working Day”

The sum of [£xxx] [(amount in words)] Index Linked
to cover the Mitigation Land Authority’s costs of
monitoring compliance with this agreement for years
21-125 ([£xxx] every [xx] years and a visit in year
125)
a scheme for the planting of trees on the Mitigation Land (or part
of the Mitigation Land, but so that it must always include such
part as becomes Credits Linked Land on the Activation Date and
on service of any subsequent Notice of Purchase), to include
details of number and species of trees and timing of planting,
and measures for maintaining and encouraging the successful
growth of the trees for a minimum of ten years after planting,
and which shall be designed so as to ensure that there will be a
minimum of 20% canopy cover across the Mitigation Land at
maturity.
Monday to Friday inclusive, excluding any bank or public
holidays

1.3
2

INTERPRETATION

2.1

Where in this Deed reference is made to any clause, paragraph,
schedule or recital such reference (unless the context otherwise
requires) is a reference to a clause, paragraph, schedule or recital in this
Deed.

2.2

Words of the masculine gender include the feminine and neuter genders
and words denoting actual persons include companies, corporations and
firms and all words shall be construed interchangeable in that manner.

2.3

Wherever there is more than one person named as a party and where
more than one party undertakes an obligation all their obligations can be
enforced against all of them jointly and severally unless there is an
express provision otherwise.

2.4

Any reference to an Act of Parliament shall include any modification,
extension or re-enactment of that Act for the time being in force and shall
include all instruments, orders, plans regulations, permissions and
directions for the time being made, issued or given under that Act or
deriving validity from it.

2.5

References to any party to this Deed shall, to the full extent permitted by
law, include the successors in title to that party and to any person
deriving title through or under that party and in the case of the Mitigation
Land Authority the successors to their respective statutory functions.
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2.6

References to "the parties" shall mean the parties to this Deed and
reference to a "party" shall mean any one of the parties.

2.7

The headings and contents list are for reference only and shall not affect
construction.

2.8

Words importing the singular meaning where the context so admits
include the plural meaning and vice versa.

3

STATUTORY AUTHORITY

3.1

This Deed is made pursuant to Section 106 of the Act and the Enabling
Powers. The covenants, restrictions and requirements imposed upon the
Mitigation Land Owner under this Deed create covenants pursuant to
Section 106 of the Act and are enforceable by the Mitigation Land
Authority against the Mitigation Land Owner, their successors in title and
any person deriving title in the Mitigation Land or any part of it from the
Mitigation Land Owner.

4

EFFECT OF THE AGREEMENT

4.1

Subject to clause 4.2 this Deed shall take effect on the day and year

first before written.
4.2

The covenants contained in Paragraph 1 of the Schedule to this Deed
shall only take effect in respect of each area of Credits Linked Land on
the date of service of the Notice of Purchase in respect of that Credits
Linked Land.

4.3

On service by the Mitigation Land Owner on the Mitigation Land Authority of a Notice
of Purchase the land identified within that notice shall become Credits Linked Land.

5

MITIGATION LAND OWNER’S COVENANTS

5.1

The Mitigation Land Owner hereby covenants with the Mitigation Land
Authority pursuant to section 106 of the Act that it will observe and
perform the covenants contained in the Schedule to this Deed subject
to the operation of clauses 4.2 and 7.2 of this Deed.
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6

MITIGATION LAND AUTHORITY’S COVENANTS
6.1

The Mitigation Land Authority hereby covenants with the Mitigation Land Owner that it
will observe and perform the covenants contained in paragraph 4 of the Schedule to
this Deed subject to the operation of clauses 4.2 and 7.2 of this Deed.

7

RELEASE AND LAPSE
7.1

It is hereby agreed that the Mitigation Land Owner shall not be liable for a breach of
any of its obligations under this Deed (save for antecedent breaches) after it shall have
parted with all of its interests in the Mitigation Land.

7.2

Where any Permission expires without having been Commenced or where any
Permission is quashed following a successful legal challenge the Credits Linked Land
relating to that Permission (via a Notice of Purchase) shall be released automatically
on such expiry or quashing of such Permission from the covenants contained in the
Schedule to this Deed so that the Mitigation Land Owner shall then be entitled to serve
a fresh Notice of Purchase in relation to that Credits Linked Land.

7.3

Subject to clause 7.2 the Mitigation Land Owner covenants with the Mitigation Land
Authority that it will not allocate any part of the Mitigation Land such that it becomes
Credits Linked Land for more than one Development.

8

LAND CHARGES
8.1

This Deed is a local land charge and shall be registered as such by the Mitigation Land
Authority.

8.2

Upon the full satisfaction of all the terms of this Deed the Mitigation Land Owner may
request that the Mitigation Land Authority procure that all entries in the register of local
land charges relating to it other than those obligations which are of continuing effect be
removed as soon as reasonably practicable.

9

DUTY TO ACT REASONABLY

9.1

All parties to this Deed acknowledge that they are under a duty to act
reasonably and (without prejudice to generality) if any deed consent
approval or expression of satisfaction is due from one party to another
under the terms of this Deed the same shall not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed.

10

NO FETTER ON DISCRETION OR WAIVER
10.1

Nothing contained or implied in this Deed shall prejudice or affect the rights discretions
powers duties and obligations of the Mitigation Land Authority under all statutes bylaws statutory instruments orders and regulations in the exercise of their respective
functions as a local authority.

Page 106

10.2

No waiver (whether expressed or implied) by the Mitigation Land Authority of any
breach or default in performing or observing any of the covenants terms or conditions
of this Deed shall constitute a continuing waiver and no such waiver shall prevent the
Mitigation Land Authority from enforcing any of the relevant terms or conditions or from
acting upon any subsequent breach or default.

11

COVENANT AS TO TITLE

11.1

The Mitigation Land Owner hereby covenants with the Mitigation Land

Authority that no

person other than the parties to this Deed has any interest

in the Mitigation Land.

12

SEVERABILITY

12.1 It is agreed that if any part of this Deed shall be declared unlawful or
invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction then (to the extent possible)
the remainder of this Deed shall continue in full force and effect.

13

LEGAL COSTS
13.1

The Mitigation Land Owner hereby covenants with the Mitigation Land Authority that it
will on or before the date of this Deed pay the Legal Costs.

14

CONTRACT (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999

14.1

notwithstanding the provisions of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties)

Act 1999 no part of this Deed shall be enforceable by a third party who is not
a party to the Deed and for the

avoidance of doubt the terms of this Deed

may be varied by Deed between the parties

without the consent of any

such third party.

15

NOTICES

15.1

Any notices required to be served by one party on another under this
Deed shall be served by First Class prepaid post or by email in the
following manner:
15.1.1

on the Mitigation Land Authority marked “for the attention of [
address as detailed above; and
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]” at the

15.1.2

on the Mitigation Land Owner at the address as detailed above or as
notified by the Mitigation Land Owner in writing to the Mitigation Land
Authority.

15.2

Notices served in accordance with this clause 15 shall be deemed received (a) where
sent by first class prepaid post, by 4pm on the second Working Day following posting.

16

INTEREST ON LATE PAYMENTS

16.1 Any amount due from the Mitigation Land Owner under this Deed which
is not paid on the due date shall be payable with Interest.

17

NOTIFICATION OF SUCCESSORS IN TITLE
17.1

The Mitigation Land Owner covenants with the Mitigation Land Authority that it will give
immediate written notice to the Mitigation Land Authority of any change of ownership
of the Mitigation Land if at such time the obligations contained within this Deed have
not fully been discharged such notice to give details of the transferee’s full name and
registered office (if a company or usual address if not) together with the area of the
Mitigation Land purchased by reference to a plan.

18

JURISDICTION

18.1

This Deed is governed by and interpreted in accordance with the law of
England and the parties submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the
courts of England and Wales.

19

DELIVERY
19.1

This Deed is for the purposes of the Regulatory Reform (Execution of Deeds and
Documents) Order 2005 a deed and for the avoidance of doubt the Deed shall be
deemed not delivered despite being executed by the parties until such time as it is
dated.
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SCHEDULE

THE COVENANTS

The Mitigation Land Owner covenants with the Mitigation Land Authority as follows:

1.

COVENANTS REGULATING USE OF THE MITIGATION LAND

1.1

Subject to paragraph 1.2 of this Schedule not to use any parcel of Credits Linked Land for
Agriculture or deposit or permit the deposit of any fertiliser on the Credits Linked Land during
the lifetime of the Development that is linked to that parcel of Credits Linked Land.

1.2

Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1.1 of this Schedule, the following activities
(without limitation) shall for the avoidance of doubt be permitted:
1.2.1

The harvesting and removal of any existing crop in the ground at the Activation
Date provided no additional fertiliser inputs are applied;

1.2.2

the planting and management of trees in accordance with the Woodland
Planting Scheme;

1.2.3

leaving the Credits Linked Land naturally to regenerate;

1.2.4

planting and maintaining greensward;

1.2.5

creating and maintaining open space;

1.2.6

creating and maintaining forestry rides;

1.2.7

the carrying out and maintenance of any planting scheme or woodland
management plan that is first approved by Natural England, the Forestry
Commission, or any other authority for the time being with relevant
responsibility for land such as the Mitigation Land

provided no further fertiliser inputs are applied.

1.3

By no later than two months after (a) the Activation Date and (b) the date of service of any
subsequent Notice of Purchase to submit to the Mitigation Land Authority for its written approval
a Woodland Planting Scheme. For the avoidance of doubt a Woodland Planting Scheme
submitted under this paragraph must always include within its scope the area of the Mitigation
Land that is, by virtue of a served Notice of Purchase, becoming Credits Linked Land, and it
may (but need not – the matter being entirely at the Mitigation Land Owner’s discretion) include
other parts of the Mitigation Land in anticipation of further Notices of Purchase. Where a
Woodland Planting Scheme is submitted in relation to land (“Additional Land”) that was not at
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the relevant time Credits Linked Land and that Scheme is approved by the Mitigation Land
Authority, there is no requirement for any further Woodland Planting Scheme to be submitted
in relation to that Additional Land when a subsequent Notice of Purchase is served that has the
effect of that Additional Land becoming Credits Linked Land in due course unless the Mitigation
Land Owner wishes to vary the scheme subsequently.

1.4

Following approval of each Woodland Planting Scheme, to implement and thereafter comply
with the approved Woodland Planting Scheme:
(a)

in so far as it relates to any parcel of land that becomes Credits Linked Land; and

(b)

so that any required planting shall take place no later than the next planting season
following such parcel of land becoming Credits Linked Land (but may occur earlier).

1.5

The parties acknowledge that any Woodland Planting Scheme may need to be varied from time
to time. Any such variation may be proposed by the Mitigation Land Owner and then will be
subject to approval in line with the process contemplated by paragraph 1.3 of this schedule.

2.

NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS

2.1

Upon the completion of a Conditional Contract, the Mitigation Land Owner
shall immediately provide to the proposed purchaser under that Conditional
Contract the Nitrate Mitigation Proposals Pack.

2.2

Upon completion of any sale of Credits, but only once the Mitigation Land
Owner has been paid in full for such sale, the Mitigation Land Owner shall
immediately:
(a) send the relevant Notice of Purchase to the Mitigation Land Authority; and
(b) provide a copy of that Notice of Purchase to the purchaser of the Credits.

3.

VERIFICATION CONTRIBUTIONS

3.1

The Mitigation Land Owner undertakes to the Mitigation Land Authority to pay
the Initial Verification Contribution and the Verification Contribution to the
Mitigation Land Authority on or before the Activation Date.
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THE MITIGATION LAND AUTHORITY OBLIGATIONS

4.

ACCESS PROVISIONS

4.1

In connection with the Mitigation Land Authority’s accessing the Mitigation

Land for the purpose of

monitoring compliance with this Deed the following

provisions apply:

4.1.1 All access onto the Mitigation Land and any adjoining land belonging to
the Mitigation Land Owner shall be entirely at the risk of the Mitigation
Land Authority;

4.1.2 Without prejudice to paragraph 4.1.1, the Mitigation Land Authority will
give the Mitigation Land Owner no fewer than 7 days’ written notice of any
inspections (which will set out the expected duration of the inspection and include a
list of the equipment that the Mitigation Land Authority will use for the monitoring and
verification inspection) and will also give the Mitigation Land Owner or his
representative the opportunity to accompany the Mitigation Land Authority’s
representative on any monitoring or verifying inspection to assist with site safety; and
4.1.3 In gaining access to the Mitigation Land, the Mitigation Land Authority
will cause no damage or disturbance to the Mitigation Land nor to any adjoining land
of the Mitigation Land Owner nor to any operations carried out thereon by or on
behalf of the Mitigation Land Owner.
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IN WITNESS whereof the parties hereto have executed this Deed on the day and
year first before written

THE COMMON SEAL OF

)

[MITIGATION LAND AUTHORITY]

)

was affixed in the presence of:

)

Authorised Signatory:

SIGNED as a deed by

)

[MITIGATION LAND OWNER]

)

In the presence of:

)

Witness Signature:

Name:

……………………………………

Address:

……………………………………
……………………………………
……………………………………
……………………………………

Occupation ……………………………………
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……………………………………

Appendix 5
Financial implications to authorities of Local Planning Authority led schemes

1.1 The below example shows both an indication of the potential return on
investment and potential financial risks associated with a Local Authority led
scheme. The indicative example is based on informed assumptions relating to
land value and the open market price of credits. However, the land price, market
value of credits and availability of land would need to be considered on a
catchment by catchment basis in a fully strategic approach and would vary,
potentially significantly, between catchments.
•

•

Land value assumed at equivalent of £25k/acre
•

100 acres (40.4ha)of general cropping = £2.6m (£2.5m +
£100,000 allowance for set up/management)

•

100 acres of cereal cropping = 1,260 credits

•

1,260 credits sold at a value of £2,500 per credit
(approximate current market rate) = £3.15m

•

1,260 credits sold at a value of £2,000 per credit = Break
even

Competition scenario - Wetland opportunity in private ownership
•

Minimal land value as usually unproductive land
unsuitable for development with limited ‘hope’ value.

•

Constructed wetland costs (considerable variation in cost
depending on topography and soil type) - £750k

•

Wetland credits (dependent on nitrogen flow into the
wetland) – 2,500

•

2,500 credits sold at a value of £2,500 per credit
(approximate current market rate) = £6.25m

•

2,500 credits at a value of £1500 per credit = £3m (profit)

•

2,500 credits at a value of £300 per credit = Break even

1.2 The below example shows an indication of the potential financial implication for
local authorities where they may choose to purchase mitigation credits from
existing mitigation providers. The indicative example is based on a need of 75
credits. Local authorities would then have the opportunity to purchase further
credits at the same rate or a negotiated rate should the open market price of
credits change.
•

Open market value of £2,500 per credit used in example is considered
appropriate for use in the Chichester and East Hampshire catchments. In the
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Test and Itchen catchment an open market value of £3000 and a negotiated
value of £2500 should be used in calculations.
•

Total cost of 75 credits purchased at negotiated open market value of
£2,250 = £168,750

•

Legal and set up costs = £10,000

•

Total capital needed = £178,750

•

Total revenue from sale of credits at contracted market rate of £2,500 =
£187,500

•

£8,750 return on investment minus any administration costs

ENDS
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